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Letter to the Stockholders 

Dear stockholders, customers, partners, and employees: 
 
2002 was a challenging year for Intershop and the entire software industry. Corporate spending on information technology 
(IT) remained restrained as companies worldwide adjusted their businesses to a difficult economic environment.
 
Despite the challenges, Intershop remained focused on increasing high-margin license revenue and reducing operating 
expenses. A concerted restructuring effort–both financial and organizational–progressively brought revenues and expenses 
into alignment. These initiatives allowed us to achieve our stated goal of reaching break-even on an EBITDA (earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization) basis in the fourth quarter of 2002. 
 
To drive revenues, Intershop re-focused the sales teams on increasing high-margin license. Reflecting the strength in our core 
business model of developing and selling enterprise-class online commerce software, license revenue increased by 10% year 
over year. We achieved this growth despite an unfavorable global IT spending environment. A key factor in our success in 
increasing license sales was the expansion of our Enfinity product suite. In 2002, we successfully expanded sales of Enfinity 
MultiSite, a new generation of the Intershop’s Enfinity product line, as well as new solutions for content management and 
online procurement. 
 
To better manage costs, fundamental changes were made in the Company’s operations. While further streamlining our global 
workforce, we centralized all corporate functions in our headquarters in Jena, Germany, simplified the Company’s organiza-
tional structure, and bolstered the senior management team with several new appointments. Alongside the Company’s opera-
tional redesign, we significantly reduced the Company’s quarterly cash usage and took specific steps to strengthen our bal-
ance sheet and to increase our financial flexibility for the future. 
 
Looking ahead to 2003, we are repositioning Intershop as a leader in Unified Commerce Management (UCM), a new segment 
emerging in the enterprise software market. In contrast to traditional, often isolated, online commerce applications, the UCM 
approach offers enterprises a customer-driven capability for centrally managing all online commerce initiatives. Unified com-
merce enables customers to integrate online commerce processes across disparate countries, markets, business units, appli-
cations and systems–from a single point of control.
 
UCM is a proven best-practice strategy designed to achieve a higher return on investment (ROI) and a lower cost of ownership 
(TCO) for our customers. Intershop currently supports the UCM strategy with its unique and comprehensive Enfinity MultiSite 
architecture, which in 2002 won market acceptance and adoption by leading blue-chip customers. 
 
As a fellow stockholder, at the beginning of 2002 I invested an additional €10 million of my own money to purchase new 
shares of Intershop. I did so as I firmly believe in Intershop’s future and in the long-term opportunity offered by the online com-
merce software market. 
 
On behalf of the management team at Intershop, I would like to thank all of our stockholders, customers, partners, and 
employees for their continuing trust and support. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
Stephan Schambach
Chief Executive Officer
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This annual report contains forward-looking statements regarding future events or the future financial and operational perfor-
mance of Intershop. Actual events or performance may differ materially from those contained or implied in such forward-look-
ing statements. Risks and uncertainties that could lead to such difference could include, among other things:  Intershop's lim-
ited operating history, the unpredictability of future revenues and expenses and potential fluctuations in revenues and operat-
ing results, consumer trends, the level of competition, seasonality, risks related to electronic security, possible governmental 
regulation, and general economic conditions.  Additional information regarding factors that potentially could affect Intershop's 
business, financial condition, and operating results is included in Intershop's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion, including the company's Form 20-F dated May 9, 2002.
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     1. Market Environment

In 2002, Intershop Communications AG Group (“Inter-
shop,” “the Company,” or “the Intershop Group”) business 
continued to be impacted by weak demand for enterprise 
software, resulting from corporate information technology 
(IT) spending constraints. 
 
As in the previous year, the enterprise application software 
industry contracted further in 2002. According to industry 
analysis conducted by Gartner Group, total 2002 license 
revenue for sell-side online commerce software in Europe 
declined by 16% year over year to US$196 million. Accord-
ing to Morgan Stanley, a renowned investment bank, for 
the first time in history, the software industry has posted 
five consecutive quarters of year-over-year declines in 
license revenue.
 
On a macro-economic level, 2002 was characterized by 
marginal economic growth and sharp declines in the global 
equity markets. At an annual GDP (gross domestic pro-
duct) growth rate of only 0.1%, Germany, the largest Euro-
pean economy and Intershop’s key market, exhibited 
essentially stagnant growth in 2002, reflecting both the 
worldwide economic downturn and structural problems 
specific to the German economy. While economic growth 
remained sluggish, global equity markets plunged further. 
During 2002, the Nasdaq Composite index fell by 32% and 
Germany’s NEMAX 50 fell by 69% year over year, after 
annual declines of 22% and 60% respectively in 2001.
 
As a result of the global economic downturn, companies 
worldwide tended to postpone or even reduce IT spending. 
As was the case in 2001, IT spending decisions were domi-
nated by return-on-investment (ROI) considerations. Enter-
prise customers continued to focus on products with high 
ROI and low-risk turnkey solution products, requiring mini-
mal levels of customization to achieve a low total cost of 
ownership (TCO). Customer demand patterns in 2002 fur-
ther shifted to replacement business, focusing on enhanc-
ing existing systems and prolonging systems lifecycles.
 

Against this background, for Intershop 2002 was marked 
by a period of strategic realignment, with the primary goal 
of enhancing business efficiency and improving financial 
performance. Major corporate initiatives included refocus-
ing the Company’s sales efforts, enhancing technological 
leadership, strengthening the Company’s organizational 
efficiency and its management capabilities, strengthening 
the Company’s balance sheet, and improving its financial 
performance.

     2. Refocusing Sales Strategy

Throughout 2002, Intershop re-focused its sales efforts to 
boost high-margin license sales. While overall sales 
decreased from €68.7 million in 2001 to €45.1 million in 
2002, the Company’s performance in its core license busi-
ness improved significantly year over year. As license rev-
enue rose by 10% year over year to €22.5 million in 2002, 
the share of license revenue as a percentage of total rev-
enue increased from 30% in 2001 to 50% in 2002.
 
In a difficult IT spending environment, Intershop success-
fully brought to market Enfinity MultiSite, a new generation 
of the Company’s Enfinity product line, as well as new solu-
tions in the areas of content management and online pro-
curement. With its high-end product offering, the Company 
continued to target global enterprise customers and contin-
ued to up-sell its new products within the installed cus-
tomer base. 
 
As the cornerstone in the evolution of its product strategy, 
Intershop started marketing and selling Enfinity MultiSite, 
a highly innovative software solution. Enfinity MultiSite 
enables enterprises to deploy and centrally manage multi-
ple online commerce initiatives across different business 
units from a single platform, thus improving global opera-
tional efficiency and significantly lowering total cost of 
ownership. After its introductory phase, sales of Enfinity 
MultiSite gained ground in the second half of 2002, repre-
senting 34% and 57% of total license revenue (excluding 
deferrals) in the third and fourth quarter of 2002, respec-
tively. 
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 Throughout 2002, the Company gradually increased the 
effectiveness of its sales force by appointing new person-
nel from outside Intershop, in some instances replacing 
existing personnel with more experienced sales staff. In 
parallel, internal sales and marketing processes were 
streamlined to focus on key customer target industries 
such as retail and high-tech/manufacturing.
  
Furthermore, to foster cost-effective indirect distribution 
channels and increase market penetration, Intershop con-
tinued to build and reinforce its partner network through-
out 2002. Partner development efforts concentrated on 
joint lead generation, active pipeline management, and 
training on Intershop’s industry-specific solutions.

     3. Enhancing Technological Leadership

Along with significant efforts to re-align business opera-
tions with challenging market conditions, Intershop contin-
ued to focus its product strategy on enhancing its existing 
portfolio of standardized, enterprise-class online com-
merce software solutions. Through targeted development 
activities, the Company undertook significant efforts to 
keep and extend its technological lead in the online com-
merce enterprise software market.
  
Based on its renowned Enfinity MultiSite software architec-
ture, Intershop offered the full range of online commerce 
software products that allow customers to do business 
across the entire value chain. In 2002, the Company 
offered industry-specific solutions including Automotive, 
High-Tech/Manufacturing, and Retail. Cross-industry solu-
tions in 2002 included solutions for business-to-business 
models (Enfinity B2B Solution), for business-to-consumer 
models (Enfinity B2C Solution), for online procurement 
models (Enfinity Procurement Solution), and for content 
management models (Enfinity Content Management Solu-
tion). 
 

Corresponding to current customer demand patterns of 
investing primarily in high return on investment (ROI) and 
low total cost of ownership (TCO) products, Intershop con-
tinued to expand and update its product range. In August 
2002, Intershop released Enfinity 2.3. In September 2002, 
the Company released Enfinity MultiSite 1.1, Enfinity Pro-
curement Solution 4.0, and Enfinity B2B Solution 4.0. In 
December 2002, Intershop released Enfinity Procurement 
Solution 4.1 and Enfinity B2B Solution 4.0.
 
Emphasizing the technological strength of Intershop’s 
online commerce software solutions in areas such as secu-
rity, integration, and administration, 2002 independent 
research re-confirmed Intershop’s commitment to techno-
logical leadership by ranking Enfinity as a leading online 
commerce software product.

     4. Simplifying Company Structure, Strengthening 
Management

To support operational realignment efforts within the Com-
pany during 2002, Intershop centralized much of its busi-
ness by moving its corporate headquarters to existing 
offices in Jena, Germany, while at the same time streamlin-
ing organizational processes and structures. These mea-
sures resulted in a more cost-effective, simplified organiza-
tional structure that is better equipped to adapt to volatil-
ity in the software sector and broader economic environ-
ment. Ongoing headcount reductions across all functional 
areas resulted in Intershop’s total employee count ending 
December 31, 2002 at 479 full-time equivalent employees, 
a net reduction of 254 full-time equivalent positions or a 
decline of 35% year over year. As of December 31, 2002, 
Intershop employed 53% of its global workforce of 479 full-
time equivalent employees in technical departments such 
as research and development as well as services; 32% 
were employed in sales and marketing; and 15% were 
employed in general and administrative functions.
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In addition to organizational realignments, Intershop signifi-
cantly strengthened its management team. At the Manage-
ment Board level, Dr. Jürgen Schöttler was appointed to 
the role of Chief Financial Officer (Finanzvorstand), and 
Werner Fuhrmann was appointed to the role of President 
Europe, Middle East, and Africa and Member of the Man-
agement Board (Vorstand). In addition, Peter Mark Droste 
and Burgess Jamieson were appointed new Members of 
the Supervisory Board (Aufsichtsrat). Senior management 
was also added from outside of the organization to fill the 
positions of Senior Vice President Strategic Marketing and 
a number of regional business unit heads.

     5. Improving Financial Performance

Throughout 2002, the Company made significant gains in 
improving its financial performance. Total operational 
costs (cost of revenue and operating expenses) were pro-
gressively reduced quarter on quarter, from €36.7 million 
in the fourth quarter of 2001 to €13.5 million in the fourth 
quarter of 2002, a decline of 63%. 
  
Despite a decline in full year revenue, Intershop achieved 
its stated goal of earnings before interest, taxes, deprecia-
tion, and amortization (EBITDA) breakeven, reaching a posi-
tive EBITDA of €0.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2002 as 
compared to a negative EBITDA of €10.7 million in the 
fourth quarter of 2001.
 
To further support the Company’s strategic realignment 
efforts, Intershop took significant measures to strengthen 
its balance sheet. On December 12, 2002, a one-for-five 
reverse stock split took legal effect, thereby laying the 
foundation to strengthen the Company’s balance sheet 
and to increase the Company’s financial flexibility. Based 
on the reverse stock split, the Company’s share price 
moved above a minimum threshold of €1.00 per share, 
thereby enabling the issuance of new shares under Ger-
man law.

     6. Revenue

Ongoing weakness in the global IT markets continued to 
adversely impact Intershop’s 2002 business. Total revenue 
in 2002 was €45.1 million compared to €68.7 million in 
the previous year, representing a year-over-year decline of 
€23.6 million or 34%. Revenues were favorably impacted 
by seven deals of each over €1 million as well as the mar-
ket acceptance of the Company’s new products introduced 
in November of 2001. These products include Enfinity 
MultiSite, the Enfinity Content Management Solution, and 
the Enfinity Procurement Solution. 
 
License revenue was €22.5 million in the fiscal year 2002, 
representing a year-over-year increase of €2.0 million or 
10%. Service revenue (including consulting, customer sup-
port, maintenance, and other revenue) totaled €22.6 mil-
lion in 2002, a year-over-year decline of €25.5 million, or 
53%. In line with Intershop’s stated goal of focusing on 
strategically important high-margin license revenue, the 
Company moved some of its low-margin service business 
to its partners while at the same time reducing its own ser-
vice headcount. As a consequence, the Company’s service 
gross margin on sales rose from 14% in 2001 to 21% in 
2002 and the license/service revenue mix improved from 
30% / 70% in 2001 to 50% / 50% in 2002.
 
With a large installed base across the region, Europe 
remained the Company’s primary market in 2002, account-
ing for €35.1 million, or 78% of total worldwide revenue in 
2002, as compared to €58.2 million or 85% in 2001. Inter-
shop penetrated the European market from offices in Ger-
many, the United Kingdom, France, Sweden, Norway, Den-
mark, and Finland. Reflecting weak global demand for 
online commerce software, Intershop reduced its European 
workforce by 35% year over year, to 434 full-time-equiva-
lent employees as of December 31, 2002.
 
Intershop continued to support its customers in the Ameri-
cas region from its US headquarters in San Francisco, Cali-
fornia, generating €9.0 million, or 20% of total global rev-
enue in 2002, compared to €8.2 million, or 12% in 2001. 
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The Americas organization continued to focus on leverag-
ing Intershop’s strategy in Europe, supporting global 
accounts, as well as concentrating on US partner channel 
marketing and lead generation. Further organizational 
streamlining throughout 2002 reduced headcount in the 
Americas by 30% year over year, to 39 full-time equivalent 
employees as of December 31, 2002. 
 
In the Asia Pacific region, Intershop generated €1.1 million 
in revenue in the fiscal year 2002, representing 2% of total 
global revenue for this period. This compares to €2.3 mil-
lion, or 3% of total global revenue in 2001. Intershop 
moved to a full distributor model in the Asia Pacific region, 
supported by its global partners to provide the most effi-
cient client support. The Company reduced headcount 
across the remaining Asia Pacific office locations in Tokyo, 
Japan and Hong Kong, China by 50% year over year, to 6 
full-time equivalent employees as of December 31, 2002.
 
Revenue in the fiscal year 2002 was generated by sales to 
618 customers, of which 110 were new customers, com-
pared to 1,228 and 460, respectively, in the fiscal year 
2001. The effectiveness of Intershop’s strategy to focus on 
multinational corporations was confirmed by 2002 sales to 
blue-chip customers in the retail, high-tech, manufacturing, 
and automotive industries, among other industries.
 
The largest portion of 2002 license sales was generated by 
Intershop’s flagship Enfinity product line. Enfinity license 
sales contributed to €20.1 million, or 90% of total license 
revenue in 2002, up from €17.5 million, or 85% in 2001. In 
the fiscal year 2002, Intershop sold 94 Enfinity configura-
tions (i.e., Enfinity platforms and solutions as well as Enfin-
ity MultiSite) bringing to 412 the total number of Enfinity 
configurations sold to date worldwide.
 
Intershop 4, an online commerce solution targeted at small 
and medium-sized companies demanding easy-to-use soft-
ware solutions that can be hosted by Internet or applica-
tion service providers (ISP/ASP), generated €2.2 million, 
or 10%, of total license revenue in 2002, compared to €3.0 
million, or 15%, in 2001. In January of 2002, the Company 

introduced this product line’s latest version, Intershop 4.3, 
which features enhanced data management and currency 
conversion capabilities. In order to strategically focus on 
its high-end Enfinity product line, on November 20, 2002 
Intershop entered into a comprehensive collaborative 
agreement with ePages Software GmbH headquartered in 
Hamburg, Germany and Jena, Germany, on the future devel-
opment and worldwide distribution of the Intershop 4 pro-
duct line. The cooperation agreement covers sales and 
marketing, customer and partner assistance, software 
development, technical support, consulting and training.
 
In 2002, the Company continued to utilize cost-effective 
indirect channels through partners. Intershop’s partner 
strategy was validated throughout the year as the Com-
pany jointly won new customer accounts with a variety of 
implementation partners. Business with Intershop’s part-
ners generated approximately 52% of license revenue in 
2002, as compared to 68% in 2001.

     7. Gross Margin

Gross profit generated in the fiscal year 2002 was €26.0 
million versus €24.9 million in the fiscal year 2001. Gross 
margin on sales for 2002 rose to 58%, from 36% in 2001. 
The increase in gross margin was primarily due to the 
increased level of high-margin license revenue as a percent-
age of total revenue, as well as improved license and ser-
vice margins. 
 
Due primarily to a streamlined sales organization, the 2002 
license gross margin increased to 94%, from 89% in the 
comparable 2001 period. The Company’s service gross 
margin (including consulting, customer support, mainte-
nance, and other revenue) rose to 21% in 2002, from 14% 
in 2001. The improvement in Intershop’s service gross 
margin was driven primarily by a better utilization of ser-
vice personnel and a reduction in the service workforce.
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     8. Expense and Income

Following a systematic review of the Company’s cost struc-
ture and strict spending control policies, the Company 
reduced total 2002 operational costs (cost of revenue and 
operating expenses) by €128.4 million or 64% year over 
year, from €202.2 million in 2001 to €73.8 million in 2002.
 
Intershop reduced its research and development (R&D) 
costs as well as sales and marketing expenses during the 
year, primarily due to headcount reductions. Year over 
year, R&D expenses decreased by €8.0 million or 52% to 
€7.2 million in 2002, as compared to €15.2 million in 
2001. Sales and marketing expenses were reduced by 
€31.4 million or 52% year over year, to €29.4 million in 
2002, as compared to €60.7 million in 2001. 
 
General and administrative (G&A) expenses in 2002 
decreased by €25.3 million, or 67%, to €12.8 million in 
2002, as compared to €38.1 million in 2001. The decrease 
in G&A expenses was driven largely by lower bad debts 
and lower overhead costs associated with the Company’s 
centralization efforts and, as a result, a significantly 
reduced infrastructure supporting Intershop’s business 
model.
 
Restructuring costs, primarily related to the consolidation 
of office space and employee severance payments, totaled 
€5.3 million in 2002, versus €23.3 million in 2001. These 
charges reflect the restructuring measures announced on 
February 12, 2002 (including the creation of a simplified 
Company structure along with headcount reductions, the 
appointment of a new management team, and an aggres-
sive sales program for new products). Depreciation and 
amortization charges were €9.1 million in 2002, compared 
to €37.7 million in 2001. 2001 depreciation and amortiza-
tion charges included €21.1 million in amortization of good-
will and €2.5 million in depreciation of investments.
 

Due to cost savings across the entire organization, the 
Company significantly reduced its operating loss from 
€133.5 million in 2001 to €28.7 million in 2002, a reduc-
tion of 79% year over year.
 
The Company incurred a net loss of €27.6 million in 2002, 
compared with a net loss of €131.8 million in 2001. This 
reflects a year-over-year reduction of €104.2 million, or 
79%. The basic net loss per share in 2002 was €1.47 (post 
one-for-five reverse stock split; this represents a pro forma 
2002 net loss per share of €0.29 pre one-for-five reverse 
stock split), compared to a basic net loss per share of 
€1.50 (pre one-for-five reverse stock split) in 2001.
 
In the fourth quarter of 2002, Intershop reached a key pro 
forma financial goal. Progressively reducing costs through-
out 2002, fourth quarter 2002 earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA) were €0.3 
million, as compared to an EBITDA loss of €10.7 million in 
the fourth quarter of 2001.

     9. Liquidity and Balance Sheet 

Net cash usage related to operating activities decreased 
from €71.0 million in 2001 to €22.7 million in 2002, pri-
marily driven by lower net losses from operating activities. 
Investing activities generated a total of €15.7 million in 
2002, largely driven by proceeds from the sale of mar-
ketable securities. This figure compares to a net cash 
usage from investing activities of €4.2 million in 2001, 
which was primarily related to equipment purchases and a 
reclassification of cash into restricted cash. A total of 
€10.0 million was generated by financing activities in 2002 
compared with €0.5 million in 2001. Nearly all cash gener-
ated from financing activities in 2002 stems from the cash 
investment by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, 
Stephan Schambach, through a private equity placement. 
 
Cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities, and 
restricted cash as of December 31, 2002 totaled €22.5 mil-
lion, compared to €36.3 million as of December 31, 2001. 
Net cash usage in 2002 was driven primarily by operating 
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losses as well as the cash impacts from restructuring 
charges incurred from the third quarter of 2001 through 
the fourth quarter of 2002. 
 
Trade receivables as of December 31, 2002 were €11.1 
million, compared to €11.7 million as of December 31, 
2001. The year-over-year decrease was driven both by 
reduced sales and improved receivables management, the 
latter of which reduced Intershop’s days sales outstanding 
(DSO) by 13 days, to 78 as of December 31, 2002, com-
pared with 91 days as of December 31, 2001.
 
Intershop had short-term deferred revenues of €6.3 million 
as of December 31, 2002, compared to €5.6 million as of 
December 31, 2001. The year-over-year increase in short-
term deferred revenues reflects certain large projects with 
extended implementation cycles.

     10. Capital Structure 

As part of the Company’s initiative to strengthen its bal-
ance sheet and increase its financial flexibility, on October 
30, 2002 Intershop’s stockholders approved a reverse 
stock split, resulting in the reduction of the company’s capi-
tal by €77,225,600, or a ratio of five to one, from 
€96,532,000 to €19,306,400. All subsequent information 
in this report is provided on a post reverse split basis, i.e., 
reduced by a factor of five as if the reverse stock split had 
happened at the beginning of the year.
 
On January 23, 2002, Intershop announced that its Chief 
Executive Officer, Stephan Schambach, intended to 
exchange his remaining shares in US subsidiary Intershop 
Communications, Inc., for Intershop Communications AG 
common bearer shares. Under the transaction, Intershop 
Communications AG would issue 2,500,000 Intershop 
Communications AG common bearer shares from condi-
tional capital III, in exchange for Mr. Schambach’s 
4,166,667 shares in Intershop Communications, Inc., a 
majority-owned subsidiary of Intershop Communications 
AG. The share exchange would represent a technical con-
solidation of Intershop’s Group share capital from one of 

its subsidiaries into its parent company, Intershop Commu-
nications AG. The transaction would provide for a consoli-
dation of the Company’s ownership structure, which stems 
from its 1998 initial public offering. All other things being 
equal, the Company expects the transaction will be approxi-
mately 13% dilutive to basic earnings per share on a consol-
idated Intershop Group basis. As of December 31, 2002, 
the share exchange was not completed.
 
On February 28, 2002, Intershop changed the ratio of its 
American Depositary Shares (ADS) to underlying ordinary 
Intershop Communications AG common bearer shares 
from two ADS equaling one ordinary share to one ADS 
equaling five ordinary shares. Following the ratio change, 
each of Intershop’s Nasdaq-listed ADS evidenced owner-
ship of five underlying ordinary shares listed on its primary 
stock exchange, the Prime Standard, located in Frankfurt, 
Germany. Intershop’s trading symbol on the Nasdaq 
National Market was temporarily changed to ISHPD in 
accordance with Nasdaq regulations. After the notification 
period, the trading symbol reverted to the Nasdaq National 
Market designation of ISHP. The ratio change did not affect 
the value of an investor’s ADS holdings. Stockholders of 
Intershop Communications AG ordinary shares did not see 
any change in the number of shares held due to the ADS 
ratio change. The ratio change was non-dilutive and had no 
impact on Intershop’s balance sheet.
 
On March 4, 2002, Intershop announced that its Chief 
Executive Officer, Stephan Schambach, would invest 
approximately €10 million in cash to purchase Company 
stock. In a private equity placement, Intershop Communica-
tions AG’s Management Board (Vorstand), upon approval 
by the Supervisory Board (Aufsichtsrat), resolved to issue 
1,666,800 of new Intershop Communications AG common 
bearer shares from authorized capital. In turn, Mr. Scham-
bach was permitted to purchase all 1,666,800 shares in 
cash at a price of €6.00 per share. On March 13, 2002, 
Mr. Schambach subscribed for these new shares. On May 
2, 2002, the capital increase was registered with the Local 
Court (Amtsgericht) in Hamburg, Germany, in the Commer-
cial Register (Handelsregister). With the registration, the 
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new shares were created. Pricing was based on the XETRA 
daily closing price at the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on 
March 1, 2002. After completion of the transaction, 
Stephan Schambach held 1,667,300 Intershop Communi-
cations AG common bearer shares, representing 8.6% of 
Intershop’s outstanding common stock of 19,306,400 com-
mon bearer shares as of December 31, 2002. On Septem-
ber 6, 2002, Mr. Schambach’s new shares were admitted 
to the Geregelter Markt stock exchange segment; on 
September 11, 2002, the new shares were included in 
Intershop’s share price quotation (first quotation). Mr. 
Schambach’s equivalent cash investment of approximately 
€10 million was recorded in the first quarter of 2002. The 
transaction was dilutive to basic earnings per share by 
approximately 13% on a consolidated Intershop Group 
basis. 
 
All other things being equal, upon completion of both his 
share purchase and a possible share exchange, Mr. Scham-
bach would hold approximately 4,167,300 Intershop Com-
munications AG common bearer shares, or approximately 
19.1% of common stock. Total shares outstanding follow-
ing the completion of Mr. Schambach’s share purchase 
and Mr. Schambach’s reported, but not completed share 
exchange from conditional capital III are expected to be 
approximately 21.8 million; the share capital is expected to 
be €21.8 million.
 
After Mr. Schambach’s subscription for new shares from 
authorized capital, Intershop’s stockholders approved re-
adjusting the Company’s authorized capitals I and II to the 
legally permissible maximum of 50% of the share capital at 
the time of stockholder approval. Furthermore, during its 
Annual Stockholders’ Meeting on June 6, 2002, in Ham-
burg, Germany, Intershop received stockholders’ approval 
to extend the authorization to purchase or sell Intershop 
Communications AG common bearer shares in conjunction 
with its employee stock option program. Other core resolu-
tions approved during Intershop’s fourth Annual Stockhold-
ers’ Meeting included formally approving the actions of the 
members of the Management Board (Vorstand) and the 
Supervisory Board (Aufsichtsrat), electing the members of 

the Supervisory Board, and authorizing the transfer of the 
Company’s domicile from Hamburg, Germany, to Jena, Ger-
many. The domicile change became effective on October 
18, 2002 with its registration at the Local Court (Amts-
gericht) in Gera, Germany in the Commercial Register (Han-
delsregister). All resolutions were accepted by at least 98% 
of the capital represented at the meeting. Approximately 
500 stockholders and stockholders’ representatives 
attended the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting and approxi-
mately 28% of common stock was represented at the meet-
ing. Parts of the stockholders’ meeting were broadcast live 
over the Internet.
 
On July 31, 2002, Intershop announced it had retained the 
investment bank ING Barings as its financial advisor. The 
goal of the engagement is to strengthen the Company’s 
capital structure and to increase its financial flexibility for 
the future. Jointly with ING Barings, Intershop made prepa-
rations in the second half of 2002 to raise new capital.
 
On September 11, 2002, the Management Board (Vor-
stand) resolved to call a Special Stockholders’ Meeting pur-
suant to section 92 paragraph 1 of the German Stock Cor-
poration Act (Aktiengesetz) in order to notify its stockhold-
ers of a loss of half of the Company’s share capital. As part 
of the Company’s initiative to strengthen its balance sheet 
and increase its financial flexibility, on October 30, 2002 
Intershop’s stockholders approved a reverse stock split, 
resulting in the reduction of the company’s capital by 
€77,225,600, or a ratio of five to one, from €96,532,000 
to €19,306,400, in order to compensate value deprecia-
tions and to cover further losses for an aggregate amount 
of €75,294,960 and in order to form a new, previously dis-
solved capital surplus of €1,930,640. This reduction in 
share capital took legal effect on December 12, 2002, 
when a resolution on a simplified reduction of capital was 
entered in the commercial register at the local court of 
Gera, Germany, in accordance with sections 229 ff. of the 
German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz). New shares 
began trading on a consolidated basis on January 20, 
2003. Following the stock split, the International Securities 
Identification Number (ISIN) of Intershop Communications 
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AG’s common bearer shares changed from ISIN DE 
0006227002 (equivalent to German Securities Identifica-
tion Number – WKN 622700) to ISIN DE 0007472920 
(equivalent to German Securities Identification Number – 
WKN 747292), and the ticker symbol of Intershop’s shares 
traded on Prime Standard changed from ISH to ISH1. Sub-
sequent to the reverse stock split of Intershop’s ordinary 
common bearer shares traded in Germany, a change of the 
ratio of Intershop’s American Depositary Shares (ADS) 
quoted on Nasdaq National Market to the underlying ordi-
nary shares traded in Germany was effected on February 6, 
2003. After the ratio change, one ADS evidenced one Inter-
shop common bearer share instead of five Intershop com-
mon bearer shares before the ratio change. The ratio 
change did not affect the value of an investor’s ADS hold-
ings. The ratio change was non-dilutive and had no impact 
on Intershop’s balance sheet.
 
In addition to the reverse stock split, Intershop’s stockhold-
ers at the Company’s Special Stockholders’ Meeting on 
October 30, 2002 approved a resolution to adapt the Com-
pany’s articles of association to the German Transparency 
and Publicity Act (Transparenz- und Publizitätsgesetz – 
TransPuG). All resolutions were accepted by at least 99% 
of the capital represented at the meeting. Approximately 
500 stockholders and stockholders’ representatives 
attended the Special Stockholders’ Meeting held at the 
CCH convention center in Hamburg, Germany. About 28% 
of common stock was represented at the meeting. Parts of 
the stockholders’ meeting were broadcast live over the 
Internet.
 
In 2002, 1,336 (post reverse stock split, corresponding to 
6,678 pre reverse stock split) employee stock options 
were exercised and exchanged for Intershop Communica-
tions AG common bearer shares.

     11. Foreign Exchange Exposure

Business transactions carried out by Intershop’s various 
operations are denominated in their respective local cur-
rencies and are translated into the reporting currency, the 
euro, at the end of the period. The largest portion of Inter-
shop’s 2002 business was conducted in currencies that 
are part of the European Monetary Union exchange rate 
mechanism and are thus pegged to the euro. The Compa-
ny’s foreign exchange exposure was therefore limited to 
business transactions conducted in currencies that were 
not part of the European Monetary Union exchange rate 
mechanism, notably the US dollar and the pound sterling. 

     12. Organizational Changes

Effective February 8, 2002, Wilfried Beeck resigned as 
Chief Operating Officer and Member of the Management 
Board (Finanzvorstand) and Michael Tsifidaris resigned as 
President Europe.
 
Effective April 15, 2002, the Company’s Supervisory Board 
appointed Dr. Jürgen Schöttler as Chief Financial Officer 
and Member of the Management Board (Finanzvorstand). 
Before joining Intershop, Dr. Schöttler was CFO and Manag-
ing Director at Messer Griesheim, a leading company in the 
technical gases industry. During his career, he held execu-
tive positions at Philips Electronics Germany and Alcan Ger-
many. Dr. Schöttler was placed in charge of the finance, 
human resources, information technology, legal, and the 
general and administrative departments of the Company.
 
Effective July 25, 2002, the Company’s Supervisory Board 
appointed Werner Fuhrmann as President Europe, Middle 
East and Africa and Member of the Management Board 
(Vorstand). Mr. Fuhrmann’s appointment was part of the 
Company’s strategy to further strengthen its entire sales 
organization. Werner Fuhrmann joined Intershop from 
Groupe Bull/Integris, a leading European IT services 
provider. During the course of his management career at 
Bull, he most recently held the position of Chief Operating 
Officer of Integris and was a member of the Groupe Bull 
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senior management team. Previously he served as the Bull 
AG General Manager for Central Europe and as a member 
of the German management board for Bull AG.
 
On October 16, 2002 the Company announced it had 
appointed Gary DiOrio to the role of President Americas. 
Reporting to CEO Stephan Schambach, Mr. DiOrio is 
responsible for Intershop’s US business. In the third quar-
ter of 2002, new regional business unit heads were also 
named for Intershop’s United Kingdom and France opera-
tions.
 
On October 23, 2002 the Company appointed Stephen Kir-
choff to the position of Senior Vice President Strategic Mar-
keting. Reporting to CEO Stephan Schambach, Mr. Kirchoff 
is responsible for Intershop's global product strategies, 
business development, and marketing. 
 
Effective November 28, 2002, the Local Court in Gera, Ger-
many, appointed Peter Mark Droste as a new member of 
Intershop’s Supervisory Board (Aufsichtsratsmitglied). At 
the time of announcement on August 6, 2002, Peter Mark 
Droste was in charge of sales in central and northern 
Europe for Siebel Systems, a leading provider of Customer 
Relationship Management (CRM) software. Before joining 
Siebel Systems, he was in charge of Compaq Computer’s 
German business and has held various management posi-
tions at companies such as Nixdorf Computer GmbH and 
Compaq Computer.

     13. Intershop Communications AG Highlights and 
Risks

Intershop Communications AG is the management holding 
company for the operational entities in the Intershop Com-
munications Group. As a corporation that is registered in 
Germany, Intershop Communications AG publishes finan-
cial statements in compliance with the German Commer-
cial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch) and the German Stock Cor-
poration Act (Aktiengesetz). Intershop Communications 
AG’s main activities include the performance of central 
functions for the Intershop Group (management) and the 

management of its equity investments and assets. The 
average number of Intershop Communications AG employ-
ees decreased from 14 in 2001 to 13 in 2002.
 
The general slowdown in corporate IT spending resulted in 
a drop in revenue and operating losses for all subsidiaries 
of Intershop Communications AG, with their capital needs 
being covered through loans from the parent company. The 
Group was financed exclusively from own funds provided 
by Intershop Communications AG and its subsidiaries. 
Since the loans granted by Intershop Communications AG 
in the fiscal year 2002 could not be repaid by any of its 
subsidiaries, these were written down in the current HGB 
annual financial statements of Intershop Communications 
AG.
 
When it emerged that the market revival expected in the 
third quarter of 2002 at the latest would not actually take 
place, the Management Board revised forecasts and also 
examined the carrying amounts of the investments. This 
led the Board to decide that particular carrying amounts 
could not be maintained under the current conditions. Due 
to the exceptional write-downs to be charged and the op-
erating losses already incurred, the shareholders’ equity of 
Intershop Communications AG dropped below 50% of the 
capital stock, whereupon the Management Board immedi-
ately convoked a Special Stockholders’ Meeting in Septem-
ber 2002 in accordance with section 92 (1) of the German 
Stock Corporation Act.
 
The Special Stockholders' Meeting on October 30, 2002 
approved a simplified reduction of capital to a new capital 
stock of €19,306,400, which took effect on its entry in the 
Company’s commercial register on December 12, 2002. At 
the close of business on January 17, 2003, a five-for-one 
reverse stock split of the Company’s listed shares took 
place, with the converted shares being traded for the first 
time on January 20, 2003.
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Alongside the capital adjustment measures, the Company 
adjusted its strategic business planning for the Intershop 
Group to the changed conditions and launched a financial 
realignment. In this context, the investment bank ING Bar-
ings was retained as the Company’s strategic financial con-
sultant to support it in potential measures to raise capital. 
While the Intershop Group is forecasting an EBITDA (earn-
ings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) 
breakeven for the fiscal year 2003 on the assumption that 
sales will maintain prior-year levels, and is therefore not 
expecting significant amounts of cash to be used up, the 
Company hopes that by procuring additional funds on the 
capital market it will not only increase its financial flexibil-
ity but also raise the confidence of its customers in the sta-
bility of the Intershop Group. This is particularly important 
for key accounts, for which investment certainty–particu-
larly in relation to medium- and long-term IT projects–is a 
major consideration when deciding whether or not to place 
an order.
 
Intershop Communications AG reports a loss of €59.7 mil-
lion in its annual financial statements as of December 31, 
2002, which was mainly due to the value adjustment of 
loans to subsidiaries as well as to exceptional write-downs 
on investments. This resulted in shareholders’ equity of 
€23.3 million as of December 31, 2002 and cash and cash 
equivalents of €11.9 million (including restricted cash of 
€7.1 million).
 
The Company carried its equity investments in the annual 
financial statements as of December 31, 2002 at a total of 
€21.6 million. Intershop Communications AG anticipates 
that its subsidiaries will develop in line with the business 
plan. If the future development of these subsidiaries devi-
ates significantly from the expected development, future 
exceptional write-downs of the carrying amounts cannot 
be ruled out.
 
Intershop Communications AG posted a long-term loan of 
€7.0 million to an affiliated company as of December 31, 
2002. Although this loan is considered to be recoverable, 
the possibility that this company may not be able to repay 

it, and that additional demands for write-downs will there-
fore be required cannot be ruled out if the subsidiary con-
tinues to report losses in the future. 
 
Intershop Communications AG has issued a letter of com-
fort to Intershop Software Entwicklungs GmbH covering 
lease obligations totaling €32.5 million up to November 
14, 2013. Intershop Communications AG also issued let-
ters of comfort to Intershop Software Entwicklungs GmbH 
and Intershop Communications GmbH covering potential 
losses of up to €30 million. In line with the principle of pru-
dence, an accrual of €16 million has been recognized in 
the annual financial statements as of December 31, 2002.
 
The Management Board is confident that the current level 
of cash and cash equivalents is sufficient for financing 
future business development. If losses persist, the Com-
pany may have to seek new funds in the form of equity 
financing or debt. If losses still persist and if it is impossi-
ble to acquire sufficient capital in this case, Intershop Com-
munications AG could be forced to delay, reduce, or com-
pletely discontinue operations.
 
The continued existence of Intershop Communications AG 
is heavily dependent on the economic performance of its 
subsidiaries. For 2003, the Management Board expects rev-
enues for the subsidiaries and the Group as a whole will 
remain at last year's levels. The Board believes that the 
measures introduced in the first quarter of 2003 to reduce 
costs will have a positive impact on consolidated operating 
results in the second quarter of 2003. The Management 
Board is forecasting an EBITDA breakeven for the fiscal 
year 2003. Due to the loss carryforwards at all Group com-
panies, Intershop Communications AG does not intend to 
collect any dividends from its subsidiaries or distribute divi-
dends to its shareholders in the medium term. All central 
management and administrative functions are concen-
trated at Intershop Communications AG. Expenses 
incurred for internal services provided by Intershop Com-
munications AG are charged to the subsidiaries. The Man-
agement Board therefore expects Intershop Communica-
tions AG to break even in the fiscal year 2003.
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     14. Group Risks

Various risks could prove to be a threat to the financial situ-
ation, assets, earnings and existence of Intershop, includ-
ing (but not limited to) the following:
 
In response to the ongoing economic downturn, the Com-
pany has commenced executing on its 2003 business plan. 
Steps that Intershop is taking include, among other things, 
reducing its workforce to a target of 450 full-time equiva-
lent employees worldwide; a total quarterly operational 
cost base (cost of revenue and operating cost) of approxi-
mately €13 million; repositioning the Company as a lead-
ing provider of Unified Commerce Management (UCM); 
and to reach EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation, and amortization) breakeven for the full year 
2003. The Company expects to realize further cost savings 
as a result of the program. The 2003 business plan may 
not be successful in achieving the expected benefits within 
the expected timeframes, may be insufficient to align the 
Company’s operations with customer demand and the 
changes affecting its industry, may disrupt the Company’s 
operations, may fail to retain or attract key personnel, or 
may be more costly than currently anticipated. If Intershop 
fails to implement the 2003 business plan, additional 
financing resources might be required to support the 
Group’s operations. If, in this case, no such financing is 
available on a timely basis, the ability of Intershop Commu-
nications AG and the Group to continue operations might 
be endangered.
 
Plans to continue to invest in operational activities in order 
to strengthen the Company's market position may have a 
negative effect upon profitability in the future and reduce 
the Company's liquidity. As of December 31, 2002, cash 
and cash equivalents, marketable securities, and restricted 
cash totaled €22.5 million (including restricted cash of 
€7.1 million). Although the Management Board is confident 
that the current level of cash and cash equivalents is suffi-
cient for financing the Company’s ongoing operations and 
future business development, it may be necessary, if 
losses persist, for Intershop to seek new funds. If it is not 
possible to acquire sufficient funding, Intershop could be 
forced to delay, reduce, or completely discontinue opera-
tions. 

 Intershop’s business has been heavily impacted by the 
global economic downturn and the subsequent weakness 
in corporate IT spending, especially in the regions of 
Europe and the Americas. These conditions may continue 
to adversely affect Intershop’s ability to generate sales 
from corporate customers, may significantly harm operat-
ing results in the future, and may substantially increase the 
need for additional funding.
 
The market for online commerce applications is maturing 
and is subject to ongoing change. Even for the short term, 
future developments are therefore hard to predict. Accord-
ingly, any forecasts carry a high level of uncertainty. For 
planning purposes, Intershop uses analyses available from 
market research companies as well as the information it 
obtains through its many contacts with other market par-
ticipants. However, there is a fundamental risk that market 
trends may not be recognized in a timely fashion, and that 
management may fail to gauge the demand for software 
solutions with regard to customer requirements and vol-
ume correctly. 
 
Intershop’s quarterly revenue in the past has frequently 
included a certain number of large single deals that repre-
sented relatively large portions of overall quarterly rev-
enue. Furthermore, in 2002 the Company generated more 
than 10% of total revenue from a single customer. The 
Company’s significant dependence on large single deals 
and single customers may in the future continue to hamper 
forecasting revenue and may adversely affect the Compa-
ny’s financial performance if certain large deals cannot be 
signed during a quarter.
 
Operating results for future periods are never perfectly pre-
dictable even in the most certain of economic times. Inter-
shop expects to continue to experience fluctuations in its 
quarterly results and in its guidance, when provided, for 
financial performance in future periods. These fluctuations, 
which in the future may be significant, could cause substan-
tial variability in the market price of Intershop’s stock and 
could harm the Company’s ability to obtain future funding. 
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Intershop competes directly with other providers of online 
commerce technologies. In the dynamic online commerce 
market, it must be assumed that new and existing 
providers will significantly improve their product portfolio 
and their sales operations. Intershop’s market position 
could be threatened if it does not succeed in maintaining 
or improving its competitiveness with regard to the profile 
and quality of its products and services, and the manner in 
which they are marketed.
 
Intershop’s success in the market is heavily dependent on 
the technical performance of its products. Software faults 
that lead to restricted functionality or performance of exist-
ing and future products could considerably reduce the 
acceptance of Intershop’s products. 
 
The Company is a defendant in various legal matters aris-
ing in the normal course of business, notably, a consoli-
dated class action lawsuit in the United States and an 
investigation by the German Federal Financial Supervisory 
Authority (Bundesanstalt fuer Finanzdienstleistungsauf-
sicht, BaFin, formerly German Federal Supervisory Office 
for Securities Trading - Bundesaufsichtsamt fuer den Wert-
papierhandel – BAWe). At the beginning of 2001, several 
securities class action lawsuits were filed in the US against 
Intershop Communications AG, Management Board mem-
bers and certain other officers and the underwriters of the 
Company's September 2000 public offering. The plaintiffs 
allege that the defendants made material misrepresenta-
tions and omissions of material facts concerning the Com-
pany's business performance. The plaintiffs seek an 
unspecified amount of damages. The Management Board 
believes there is no merit to these cases and intends to 
defend itself vigorously. However, there can be no assur-
ance that the Company will be able to prevail in the lawsuit 
or that the outcome of the lawsuit will not adversely affect 
the Company’s operations. BaFin announced in Jan-
uary 2001 that it had initiated an investigation regarding a 
possible violation of the duty to disclose material informa-
tion in connection with the release on January 2, 2001 of 
Intershop Communications AG's preliminary results for 
2000. BaFin handed this case over to the public prosecu-

tor in Hamburg, Germany, who initiated an investigation 
into registered complaints about possible stock price 
manipulations in May 2001. The Company is cooperating 
in full with the public prosecutor and, to the best of the 
management's knowledge, has never previously been the 
subject of such investigations. The Company believes there 
is no merit to these allegations.
 
Intershop has taken extensive measures to protect the 
brand names it uses worldwide. Nonetheless, there is 
always a possibility that conflicts with third parties may 
arise concerning the use of individual brand names. In 
accordance with the prevailing standards in Europe, the 
programs and technologies developed by Intershop do not 
enjoy total patent protection. Although Intershop takes 
great care in protecting its intellectual property, it is impos-
sible to rule out violation of property rights by third parties. 
It is also possible that third parties may take legal actions 
against Intershop for violation of patents or other rights. 
Patent disputes are widespread in the software industry, 
particularly in the US, and are often associated with signifi-
cant costs for court action or out-of-court settlements. 
Although Intershop is convinced that it has not violated 
any patents, it is impossible to rule out a negative impact 
on Intershop’s operating results due to such claims from 
third parties.
 
When choosing enterprise software, customers’ decisions 
are partly based on a provider’s reputation and profile, not 
just on the performance of its products. Should Intershop 
fail to achieve the necessary profile and desired image with 
its target groups, this could have a negative effect on the 
demand for Intershop products. 
 
Intershop’s products are also sold and implemented by IT 
service companies. If Intershop does not succeed in train-
ing a sufficient number of these companies in the use of its 
products and attracting them as partners, this circum-
stance could negatively impact sales of the products. 
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The success of Intershop’s business depends substantially 
upon the performance of executive officers and key 
employees, especially in the areas of product development 
and sales. Failure to retain present employees and execu-
tive officers and to attract sufficient numbers of new per-
sonnel could have a negative effect upon the Company’s 
operating results.
 
License revenue accounts for a significant share of Inter-
shop’s overall revenue. According to US GAAP, software 
license revenue is recognized as such when sales agree-
ments have been signed, the licenses have been delivered, 
the license fee is fixed and determinable, and payment is 
probable. If a sale includes services that are essential to 
the features and functionality of the software, revenue is 
recognized as such in proportion to the extent of comple-
tion of the overall project. In view of the uncertainty with 
respect to the length of sales and implementation cycles, 
which primarily depends upon Intershop customers, rev-
enue is subject to strong variation from one quarter to the 
next. Given that a small number of large contracts often 
account for a large portion of revenue, this effect can be 
very substantial. Since operating costs are heavily depen-
dent on the number of personnel employed at any one 
time and, therefore, cannot be varied significantly in the 
short term, this means that fluctuations in revenue may 
result in corresponding fluctuations in operating results. 
 
In the software industry, a large portion of license revenue 
is often not recorded evenly over a quarter, but rather 
toward the end of a quarter. This is due to the fact that in 
many cases contracts are not awarded until the last third 
of a quarter. Because of this, a high level of uncertainty, as 
to whether the planned revenue target will be achieved, 
usually remains well into the quarter. 
 
To a certain extent, the operating and financial results of 
Intershop’s operations are reported in local currencies that 
are not pegged to the common European currency, the 
euro, and translated into euros for inclusion in the Compa-
ny’s consolidated financial statements. Since no hedging 
or other arrangements have been made to guard against 
the risk of currency fluctuations, currency fluctuations 
could affect the results of operations and Intershop´s earn-
ings.

 Specific risks associated with the Company’s holding 
entity, Intershop Communications AG, are described in the 
above section “Intershop Communications AG Highlights 
and Risks.” Some of the risks applicable to Intershop Com-
munications AG may also be applicable to the consolidated 
Group.

     15. Risk Management

Intershop’s objective has been to exploit business opportu-
nities worldwide in order to maximize shareholder value. 
Yet, along with these opportunities, Intershop has faced a 
number of risks that are intrinsically linked with such 
opportunities. Generally, risks to the Company’s future 
development cannot be excluded completely, due to ever-
changing market trends and limited planning certainty with 
regard to the license business. Intershop is anxious to mini-
mize operating risks by continuously expanding its compre-
hensive risk management system.
   
At Intershop, a variety of systems and procedures are in 
place to monitor, analyze, and document corporate risks. 
Intershop’s strategy to mitigate and manage risk has 
included a forward-looking product strategy to anticipate 
developments in the marketplace and future needs of cus-
tomers, emphasis upon product development, and the tech-
nological performance of the Company’s products. Also 
included in this strategy were ongoing efforts to boost the 
Company’s profile with the relevant target groups, the for-
mation of new business partnerships and alliances, training 
for third parties that market, sell, and deploy Intershop 
products, as well as measures to retain and recruit execu-
tive officers and key personnel, and to provide the neces-
sary organizational infrastructure.
 
The Company has monitored market trends and the activi-
ties of its competitors on an ongoing basis and has made 
use of market analyses and forecasts provided by leading 
market research companies. Intershop has maintained a 
comprehensive system of project management and quality 
controls in the area of product development where risk 
awareness plays a major role.
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  Intershop has used financial accounting, controlling, and 
forecasting software by SAP and Hyperion as well as cus-
tomer relationship management (CRM) software by Siebel 
Systems to monitor and manage key corporate information 
worldwide. Quarterly financial statements have ensured 
that information on business trends has remained up-to-
date. In addition to the annual budget planning process, 
the Company has used time-adjusted forecasts to update 
budgets on a continuous basis. Budgets were reviewed 
periodically and adjusted when necessary. Ongoing 
accounting and controlling activities have provided informa-
tion on variances between actual and target figures.
  
In addition, management has regularly analyzed the Compa-
ny’s assets, financial position, and earnings. Frequent 
meetings at all hierarchy levels worldwide have ensured 
that there is an efficient exchange of information and a 
rapid decision-making process throughout the Company. 
The Management Board has informed the Supervisory 
Board at least once a quarter, but typically more often, 
about important corporate developments. The Supervisory 
Board’s audit committee held meetings with the CFO and 
the head of accounting on a regular basis to discuss, ana-
lyze, and monitor corporate financial issues of day-to-day 
business operations. Intershop’s internal policies on risk 
management and internal controls, on insider trading, and 
on the disclosure of material information have ensured 
that regulatory requirements are met and best manage-
ment practices were implemented.
  
Once a year, the Company prepares an internal report that 
outlines existing corporate risks and measures to monitor 
and reduce risks. The Company’s 2002 risk report noted 
that Intershop’s risk level rose further during the fiscal year 
2002 due, among other things, to the continued deteriora-
tion of market conditions, adverse effects of restructuring 
on human resource planning and management, and the 
adverse effect of the Company’s financial situation on cus-
tomer, partner, and employee confidence in Intershop’s 
long-term viability. The report further noted, that, at the 
same time, substantial efforts were made in 2002 to 
strengthen risk controls across the entire organization. To 

reduce corporate risks, the report recommended that man-
agement further heighten risk awareness throughout the 
organization, control mission-critical systems through 
increased internal audit activities, and further integrate 
risk management into general management processes.

     16. Subsequent Events 

Effective January 1, 2003, Intershop’s common bearer 
shares were admitted to the new Prime Standard trading 
segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. The newly cre-
ated Prime Standard trading segment essentially replaced 
the Neuer Markt trading segment on which Intershop’s 
common bearer shares had previously been traded. With 
admission, Intershop complies with the comprehensive 
transparency standards of the Prime Standard trading seg-
ment, including quarterly financial reporting, use of interna-
tionally accepted accounting standards (e.g., US GAAP), 
publication of a financial calendar, at least one analyst con-
ference per year, ad-hoc disclosures and ongoing financial 
communication in both German and English. 
 
On January 14, 2003, the Company announced an effective 
date of January 17, 2003 for the technical execution of the 
reverse stock split approved at the company’s Special 
Stockholders’ Meeting held on October 30, 2002. As a 
result of the reverse stock split, five old Intershop common 
bearer shares were exchanged for one new Intershop com-
mon bearer share. The reverse split was implemented after 
the close of trading on January 17, 2003 and the converted 
shares were traded for the first time on January 20, 2003. 
Following the stock split, the International Securities Identi-
fication Number (ISIN) of Intershop Communications AG’s 
common bearer shares changed from ISIN DE 
0006227002 (equivalent to German Securities Identifica-
tion Number – WKN 622700) to ISIN DE 0007472920 
(equivalent to German Securities Identification Number – 
WKN 747292), and the ticker symbol of Intershop’s shares 
traded on Prime Standard changed from ISH to ISH1. The 
new shares began trading on a consolidated basis on Jan-
uary 20, 2003. Subsequent to the reverse stock split of 
Intershop’s ordinary common bearer shares traded in Ger-
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many, a change of the ratio of Intershop’s American 
Depositary Shares (ADS) quoted on Nasdaq National Mar-
ket to the underlying ordinary shares traded in Germany 
was effected on February 6, 2003. After the ratio change, 
one ADS evidenced one Intershop common bearer share 
instead of five Intershop common bearer shares before the 
ratio change.
 
On January 21, 2003, the Company announced that it 
planned to reduce its total operational cost base (cost of 
revenue and operating cost) to a quarterly run rate of 
approximately €13 million. In view of the ongoing volatility 
in the software market, Intershop’s cost saving plan is 
aimed at redeploying the company’s resources to better 
execute its strategic plan by, among other things, reducing 
the Company’s global workforce to approximately 450 full-
time equivalent employees. The company’s cost-saving 
actions were expected to be completed in the first quarter 
of 2003, when the Company anticipates taking a restructur-
ing charge of approximately €1.5 million. 
 
On January 23, 2003, Intershop launched a marketing cam-
paign to roll out Unified Commerce Management (UCM), a 
best-practices corporate IT strategy aimed at realizing com-
petitive advantage by integrating all online commerce pro-
cesses. In contrast to traditional, often isolated online com-
merce implementations, the UCM approach offers enter-
prise clients a customer-facing strategy to centrally man-
age all online commerce initiatives from a single point of 
control and enables them to integrate online commerce 
processes across disparate countries, markets, business 
units, applications, and systems. The new UCM approach 
focuses on increasing clients’ returns on investment (ROI) 
and on reducing total cost of ownership (TCO). Intershop 
currently supports the UCM strategy with its unique Enfin-
ity MultiSite software.
 
Subsequent to the one-for-five reverse stock split of Inter-
shop’s ordinary common bearer shares traded in Germany, 
a change of the ratio of Intershop’s American Depositary 
Shares (ADS) quoted on Nasdaq National Market to the 
underlying ordinary shares traded in Germany was effected 

on February 6, 2003. After the ratio change, 1 ADS evi-
denced 1 Intershop common bearer share instead of 5 
Intershop common bearer shares before the ratio change. 
The ratio change did not affect the value of an investor’s 
ADS holdings. The ratio change was non-dilutive and had 
no impact on Intershop’s balance sheet.
 
On February 14, 2003, Intershop announced it had 
achieved a positive EBITDA result in the fourth quarter of 
2002, a stated key financial goal for the Company.

     17. Business Outlook 

Despite the past two years of relative weakness in eco-
nomic growth and subsequent corporate IT spending, Inter-
shop, along with independent experts, believes that online 
commerce over the Internet has significant growth poten-
tial in the long term. Gartner Group, for example, suggests 
that European CRM and sell-side software license revenue 
will grow at a compounded average growth rate (CAGR) of 
7.8% between 2001 and 2006. 
 
Apart from financial spending constraints, online com-
merce software sales are expected to be driven by cus-
tomers’ demand for applications that centrally manage mul-
tiple online channels and web contents. These next genera-
tion solutions focus on integrating all online commerce pro-
cesses across disparate countries, markets, business 
units, applications, and systems. Intershop expects cus-
tomers will demand systems that can manage and 
exchange data seamlessly across heterogeneous software 
platforms and integrate existing fragmented online com-
merce initiatives in order to save systems maintenance or 
reengineering costs. While customer-driven strategies have 
become a key competitive advantage and competitive pres-
sure in many industries is expected to increase, Intershop 
expects its clients will demand customer-facing software 
capabilities that integrate all levels of the value chain to 
satisfy the needs of end users. 
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Addressing these customer needs, Intershop expects the 
emergence of a new software segment, Unified Commerce 
Management (UCM), alongside established market seg-
ments such as enterprise resource planning (ERP), cus-
tomer relationship management (CRM), and supply chain 
management (SCM). With its comprehensive Enfinity 
MultiSite software offering, Intershop believes it is well 
positioned to compete in the new UCM software segment. 
 
In the short term, Intershop expects further weakness in 
corporate IT spending and anticipates companies will con-
tinue to focus on solutions with low total cost of ownership 
(TCO) and high returns on investment (ROI). Intershop 
anticipates total revenue for the full year of 2003 will be 
approximately flat when compared to full year 2002 rev-
enue. With its 2003 business plan in place, Intershop 
expects to reduce total quarterly operational costs (cost of 
revenue and operating cost) to a target of €13 million. 
Intershop forecasts achieving EBITDA (earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization) break-even 
for the fiscal year 2003, with quarterly fluctuations around 
EBITDA break-even anticipated.



Report of Independent Auditors, Group 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Intershop Communications AG as of December 31, 2002, including 
the consolidated balance sheet and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows, changes in shareholders’ 
equity, and notes for the year then ended. The legal representatives of the Company are responsible for the preparation and 
content of the consolidated financial statements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion, based on our audit, whether 
these consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with US generally accepted accounting principles 
(US GAAP).

We conducted our audit in accordance with the German auditing rules and in compliance with the generally accepted stan-
dards of auditing prescribed by the German Institute of Certified Public Accountants (Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated finan-
cial statements are free of material misstatements. In establishing the audit procedures we considered our knowledge about 
the Group’s business operations, its economic and legal environment, and expectations of possible errors. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The 
audit includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the legal representatives, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reason-
able basis for our opinion.
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position, results of 
operations and cash flows in accordance with US GAAP.
 
Our audit, which also includes the combined management and Group management report for the fiscal period from January 1 
to December 31, 2002, which is the responsibility of the Management Board, has not given rise to any reservations. In our 
opinion the combined management and Group management report conveys a suitable presentation of the situation of the 
Group taken as a whole and presents the risks to its future developments adequately. Additionally, we confirm that the consol-
idated financial statements and the combined management and Group management report for the fiscal period from Jan-
uary 1 to December 31, 2002, meet the requirements for an exemption to prepare consolidated financial statements and the 
combined management and Group management report in accordance with the rules and regulations of the German Commer-
cial Code.
 
Without qualifying this opinion, we refer to the Company's discussion in the combined management and Group management 
report in the sections "Intershop Communications AG Highlights and Risks” and “Group Risks." In these sections, the Com-
pany discusses the planned measures to improve its results of operations and cash flows. If Intershop Communications AG 
fails to implement its 2003 business plan, additional financing resources might be required to support the Group’s operations. 
If, in this case, no such financing is available on a timely basis, the ability of Intershop Communications AG and the Group to 
continue operations might be endangered. 
 
Ernst & Young 
Revisions- und Teuhandgesellschaft mbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Schneider (Wirtschaftsprüfer)
 
Hamburg, Germany, March 27, 2003

Nendza (Wirtschaftsprüfer)
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      Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands €, except share and per-share amounts)

As of December 31, 2001 2002
   
ASSETS   
Current assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 9,107 11,303
Marketable securities 19,358 4,172
Restricted cash 7,873 7,073
Trade receivables, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of €13,940 in 2001
and €7,511 in 2002 11,679 11,131
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 9,976 7,427

Total current assets 57,993 41,106
Property and equipment, net 13,522 4,301
Intangible assets, net 203 -
Other assets 3,628 2,268
Goodwill 4,270 4,473
Total assets 79,616 52,148
   
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY   
Current liabilities   

Current debt and current maturities of long-term debt 99 98
Accounts payable 3,540 840
Accrued restructuring costs 10,653 4,881
Other accrued liabilities 15,602 13,472
Deferred revenue 5,569 6,295

Total current liabilities 35,463 25,586
Long-term liabilities, net of current portion 177 152
Deferred revenue 103 38
Total liabilities 35,743 25,776
   
Shareholders' equity   

Common share, stated value €1--authorized: 92,211,719 shares; outstanding: 
19,306,400 shares at December 31, 2002, and 88,191,322 shares at December 31, 
2001, respectively 88,191 19,306
Additional paid-in capital 13,420 -
Accumulated deficit/ retained earnings (60,632) 4,124
Accumulated other comprehensive income 2,894 2,942

Total shareholders' equity 43,873 26,372
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 79,616 52,148

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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      Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands €, except per-share amounts)

For the year ended December 31, 2000 2001 2002
   

Revenues    
Licenses 74,068 20,480 22,462
Services, maintenance, and other 48,926 48,174 22,635

Total revenues 122,994 68,654 45,097
    
Cost of revenues    

Licenses 5,289 2,338 1,288
Services, maintenance, and other 43,453 41,433 17,814

Total costs of revenues 48,742 43,771 19,102
    
Gross profit 74,252 24,883 25,995
    
Operating expenses    

Research and development 10,191 15,179 7,225
Sales and marketing 75,743 60,766 29,363
General and administrative 27,590 38,108 12,760
Goodwill and acquired intangible asset amortization 1,477 21,091 -
Restructuring costs and asset impairment - 23,276 5,326

Total operating expenses 115,001 158,420 54,674
    
Operating loss (40,749) (133,537) (28,679)
    
Other income (expense)    

Interest income 1,591 3,759 651
Interest expense (571) (76) (31)
Write down of investments - (2,482) -
Other income (expense), net 806 538 504

Total other income (expense) 1,826 1,739 1,124
    
Net loss (38,923) (131,798) (27,555)
Basic and diluted loss per share  (2.31)  (7.48)  (1.47)
    
Shares used in computing    

For basic and diluted loss per share 16,827 17,627 18,731

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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      Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, (in thousands €) 2000 2001 2002
    
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Net loss (38,923) (131,798) (27,555)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities    
Depreciation and amortization 5,637 14,146 9,115
Amortization of goodwill 1,477 21,091 -
Write-down of investments - 2,482 -
Provision for doubtful accounts 6,130 13,712 (4,686)
Amortization of deferred compensation 273 - -
(Gain) loss on disposal of marketable securities - (1,552) 152
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 71 137 689
Changes in operating assets and liabilities    
Accounts receivable (19,596) 12,446 4,809
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (4,202) (4,050) 2,497
Other assets (2,987) (738) 1,104
Accounts payable 4,877 (6,946) (2,643)
Deferred revenue (1,787) (1,383) 818
Accrued restructuring costs - 10,653 (5,773)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 7,152 824 (1,270)

Net cash used in operating activities (41,878) (70,976) (22,743)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired (3,036) -   -   
Restricted cash 1,269 (7,705) 800
Proceeds on disposal of equipment - 456 536
Purchases of property and equipment, net of capital leases (20,626) (5,731) (670)
Proceeds  from sales of marketable securities - 92,605 47,541
Purchases of marketable securities (27,039) (83,875) (32,498)

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (49,432) (4,250) 15,709
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from sale of common shares 168,679 519 10,005
Proceeds from debt issuance 10,758 -   -   
Collection on notes receivable from shareholders 141 -   -   
Repayment of indebtedness (17,791) -   -   
Net cash provided by investing activities 161,787 519 10,005
Effect of change in exchange rates on cash 1,520 (248) (775)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 71,997 (74,955) 2,196
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 12,065 84,062 9,107
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 84,062 9,107 11,303
Supplemental cash flow information    

Interest paid 561 17 31
Taxes paid 40 30 93

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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      Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity

(in thousands €, except share data)

  
Common

Shares

Common
Shares

Stated Value

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

 

     
Balance, January 1, 2000 84,390,520 16,878 48,169  
Other comprehensive loss:     

Net loss     
Foreign currency translation adjustments     
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale security, net     

Comprehensive loss     
Private placement of common stock, net 500,000 100 38,900  
Issuance of common stock for secondary offering, net 1,675,000 335 111,876  
Conversion of preferred stock of subsidiary to common stock
of parent, net of share amounts not converted 280,000 56 (56)

 

Issuance of common stock for acquisitions 275,011 275 22,586  
Exercise of stock options 882,485 334 4,635  
Capital contribution (net of tax)   12,500  
Collections on notes receivables from stockholders     
Amortization of deferred compensation     
Allocation of par value resulting from stock split  70,025 (70,025)  

Balance, December 31, 2000 88,003,016 88,003 168,585  
Other comprehensive loss:     

Net loss     
Foreign currency translation adjustments     
Unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale security, net     

Comprehensive loss     
Exercise of stock options 188,306 188 330  
Appropriation of additional paid-in capital   (155,495)  

Balance, December 31, 2001 88,191,322 88,191 13,420  
Other comprehensive loss:     

Net loss     
Foreign currency translation adjustments     
Unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale security, net     

Comprehensive loss     
Exercise of stock options 6,678 7 (3)  
Private placement of common stock, net 8,334,000 8,334 1,667  
Allocation of par value resulting from reverse stock split (77,225,600) (77,226) 77,226  
Appropriation of additional paid-in capital   (92,310)  

Balance, December 31, 2002 19,306,400 19,306 0  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Consolidated Financial Statements

27

 

Notes Receivable
Deferred

Compensation
Accumulated

Deficit

Accumulated
Other Compre-

hensive Income 

Total
Shareholders’

Equity
     

(141) (273) (45,406) 3,637 22,865
     

  (38,923)  (38,923)
   1,523 1,523
   (3,451) (3,451)

    (40,851)
    39,000
    112,211

    
    22,861
    4,969
    12,500

141    141
 273   273
     

- - (84,329) 1,709 173,969
     
  (131,798)  (131,798)
   837 837 

   348 348 
    (130,613)

    518 
  155,495   
- - (60,632) 2,894 43,874

     
  (27,555)  (27,555)
   157 157

   (109) (109)
    (27,507)
    4

    10,001
     

  92,310   
- - 4,124 2,942 26,372
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     1. Organization and Operations of the Company 

Intershop (Intershop Communications AG together with its subsidiaries and predecessors; hereinafter referred to as the “Com-
pany,” “Intershop,” or the “Group”) is a global provider of standard software solutions for global enterprises. The Company’s 
products provide both basic online commerce functionality and advanced features such as intelligent merchandising, work-
flow management, and channel integration systems. Intershop’s Enfinity software is designed to support a large number of 
online commerce models: sector-specific business models for the automobile industry (Automotive), for the high-tech sector 
and manufacturing industry (High-Tech and Manufacturing), and for trade (Retail); cross-industry solutions for business trans-
actions between companies (B2B), business transactions between companies and end users (B2C), electronic purchasing solu-
tions (Online Procurement), and centralized content management systems (Content Management). Intershop's software easily 
integrates into a company's existing infrastructures, enabling seamless transactions between suppliers, distributors, and cus-
tomers.
 
Intershop is positioned as a leading supplier of Unified Commerce Management (“UCM”) software, software which can 
provide companies with a strategic competitive advantage by tailoring their online commerce processes to clients’ needs. Sav-
ings potential is leveraged by simplifying and automating business relationships between companies, and successful purchas-
ing and sales processes can easily be reproduced anywhere in the world. UCM is an IT strategy for companies wanting to real-
ize competitive advantages by integrating all their online commerce processes. In contrast to IT strategies based on tradi-
tional, often isolated software solutions, the UCM approach offers enterprise clients a customer-facing strategy to centrally 
manage all online commerce initiatives and integrate these across disparate countries, markets, business units, applications, 
and systems. The new UCM approach focuses on increasing clients’ returns on investment (“ROI”) and lowering the total cost 
of ownership (“TCO”). The Company’s standard Enfinity MultiSite software forms the technical basis of the UCM approach and 
provides tried and tested reference models for integrating online commerce processes at low cost and managing these from a 
central point. 
 
In addition to Enfinity-based software solutions for global enterprises, up to November 2002 the Company offered small and 
medium-sized companies simple e-commerce solutions in the form of its Intershop 4 product line. Intershop has now out-
sourced the selling and marketing of this product line to ePages Software GmbH.
 
The Company also offers its customers support, professional consulting services, and education services in relation to its soft-
ware products.
 
In December 1996, Intershop Communications, Inc. ("US, Inc.") entered into a share exchange agreement with Intershop Com-
munications GmbH ("GmbH") to acquire 100% of GmbH's outstanding shares. The shareholders of GmbH's common shares 
received common shares in US, Inc. Holders of existing debt (approximately €1.1 million) and capital (approximately 
€200,000) in GmbH--approximately €1.4 million in total--received 6,720,000 shares of preferred stock in US, Inc. The fair 
value of the preferred stock issued was equal to the carrying amount of the debt and capital for which it was exchanged. The 
share exchange did not alter the relative ownership interest of the parent company. Upon completion of the transaction, US, 
Inc. became the parent company of GmbH and its subsidiaries.
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On June 23, 1998, the holders of 79.26% of the shareholders’ equity of US, Inc. exchanged their shares of preferred and com-
mon stock of US, Inc. (20,591,348 in total) for 61,729,050 shares of the Company. As a result of this transaction, US, Inc. 
became a majority-owned subsidiary of the Company. Two stockholders, Stephan Schambach, founder and Chief Executive 
Officer, and Burgess Jamieson, Supervisory Board member, did not contribute all of their shares of US, Inc. for certain tax rea-
sons, and therefore still hold 16.0% and 1.5%, respectively, of US, Inc.'s common stock as of December 31, 2002. These two 
stockholders are entitled to exchange their shares in US, Inc. for shares in the Company, using conditional capital specifically 
approved for this purpose. The interests held by these persons are considered part of the majority interest in the AG since the 
holdings qualify as related party transactions. These interests are also considered part of the majority interest in the AG 
because they can be bought back due to their conversion rights and hence their possible conversion at a price of $0.01 per 
share--if they are not converted by 2004. Accordingly, the cost of such shares is included in the additional paid-in capital in 
the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
 
Conversions of US, Inc. shares into AG shares subsequent to the initial conversion in June 1998 are treated as an increase in 
the stated value of the common stock and a corresponding decrease in the capital surplus. During 1999, the two stockhold-
ers converted 744,500 common shares of US, Inc. into 2,233,500 shares of the Company. During 2000, these stockholders 
converted 93,333 common shares of US, Inc. into 280,000 shares of the Company. During calendar years 2001 and 2002, 
these stockholders did not convert any shares of US, Inc. into shares of the Company. As of December 31, 2002, these stock-
holders held 4,548,167 shares in US, Inc., which are convertible into 2,728,900 shares of the Company at any time subject to 
the conditions of the German Stock Corporation Act. If these two shareholders had converted their shares as of Decem-
ber 31, 2002, they would own approximately 20.0% of the Company. In January 2002, the Company announced that Stephan 
Schambach intends to exchange his remaining holdings in US, Inc. (4,166,667 shares) for shares of the Company (2,500,000 
shares). This transaction had not been completed by the reporting date.
 
The consolidated financial statements reflect the consolidated results of the Company and its wholly and majority-owned sub-
sidiaries, which have been prepared according to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“US GAAP”). 
All significant intercompany transactions and balances between the consolidated companies have been eliminated.
 
As of December 31, 2002, the Company had cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities (including restricted cash) 
of €22.5 million, compared with €36.3 million as of December 31, 2001. The Company has incurred net losses for the last 
eight years and had an accumulated deficit of €243.7 million (prior to the appropriation of the additional paid-in capital of 
€243.7 million) as of December 31, 2002. The Company has developed a business plan to address its operational needs in 
the future. This plan includes further headcount and other cost reductions, and obtaining additional future financing.  

     2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying financial statements reflect the application of certain significant accounting policies as described in this 
note and elsewhere in the accompanying notes.
 
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its wholly owned subsidiaries. All signifi-
cant Group accounts and Group transactions have been eliminated.
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Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and assump-
tions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. 
 
Foreign Currency Translation
The functional currency for the Company and its subsidiaries is the local currency of the country in which the subsidiary is 
located. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation,” 
assets and liabilities of operations outside euro-denominated countries are translated into euros using exchange rates at the 
end of each reporting period. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates prevailing during the 
period. Cumulative translation gains and losses are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income as a separate com-
ponent of shareholders' equity.
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate in effect at the date of each transaction. Differences in 
exchange rates during the period between the date a transaction denominated in a foreign currency is consummated and the 
date at which it is either settled or translated are recognized in the statement of operations and are shown in “other income 
(expense), net.” Currency gains and losses were €(282,815) in 2000, €(241,460) in 2001, and €59,073 in 2002.
 
Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all investments with original maturities of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents.
 
Marketable Securities
In accordance with SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” the Company classifies 
its investments in readily marketable debt and equity securities as available-for-sale securities. Available-for-sale securities 
are carried at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported in accumulated other comprehensive 
income as a separate component of shareholders’ equity. The amortized cost of debt securities in this category is adjusted for 
amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity computed under the effective interest method. Such amorti-
zation is included in investment income. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other than temporary on 
available-for-sale securities are included in investment income. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identifica-
tion method. Interest and dividends on securities classified as available-for-sale are included in investment income.
 
Investments
Investments without readily available market value which contain less than a twenty percent ownership and where the Com-
pany cannot exercise significant influence are accounted for under the cost method. Declines in value judged to be other than 
temporary on investments are included in investment income.
 
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of accounts 
receivable. The Company performs ongoing credit checks on its customers and the risk with respect to trade receivables is 
further mitigated by the fact that the Company's customer base is diversified.
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In 2002, one single customer accounted for 23.4% of total revenue. In 2001 and 2000, no single customer accounted for 10% 
or more of total revenue.
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of the Company's financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts 
receivable, and accounts payable, approximate their fair values. Marketable securities designated as available-for-sale are 
recorded at market value with any unrealized gain or loss being recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income within 
the shareholder’s equity section of the balance sheet.
 
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Capital leases are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease pay-
ments at the date of acquisition. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 
the assets, generally ranging from three to five years. Capital leases and leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms or their estimated useful lives.
 
Software Development Costs
The Company accounts for internally generated software development costs in accordance with SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for 
the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed.” Capitalization of software development costs 
begins upon the establishment of technological feasibility of the product, which the Company defines as the development of a 
working model and further defines as the completion of beta testing of the software. The establishment of technological feasi-
bility and the ongoing assessment of the recoverability of these costs requires considerable judgment by management with 
respect to certain external factors, including, but not limited to, anticipated future product revenue, estimated economic life, 
and changes in technology. Such costs are reported at the lower of amortized cost or net realizable value. To date, internal 
software development costs that were eligible for capitalization have not been significant, and the Company has charged all 
software development costs to research and development expense as incurred.
 
The Company expenses all research and development costs as incurred.
 
Long-Lived Assets
Prior to 2002, the Company periodically evaluated the recoverability of the carrying amounts of its long-lived assets and any 
attributable goodwill in accordance with SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-
Lived Assets to be Disposed of.” Whenever events or changes in circumstances indicated that the carrying amounts of such 
assets may have not be recoverable, the Company compared estimated future undiscounted free cash flows from operating 
activities for these assets to their carrying amounts. When these undiscounted cash flows were less than the carrying 
amounts of the assets, the Company would record impairment losses to write the asset down to fair value, as measured by 
the discounted estimated net future cash flows expected to be generated from the assets. During the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2002, the Company recorded impairment losses of €2.7 million in connection with certain assets impacted by the 
Company's restructuring plans.
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In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” SFAS No. 
144 establishes a single accounting model for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale consistent with the fundamental pro-
visions of SFAS No. 121. While it supersedes portions of APB Opinion 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations--Reporting the 
Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transac-
tions,” it retains the discontinued operations presentation, yet it broadens that presentation to include a component of an 
entity (rather than a segment of a business). However, discontinued operations are no longer recorded at net realizable value 
and future operating losses are no longer recognized before they occur. Under SFAS No. 144, it is no longer necessary to allo-
cate goodwill to long-lived assets and then perform impairment testing. Furthermore, it has been stipulated that in situations 
where it is expected that certain flows of capital will be accumulated in areas subject to impairment testing, these can be cal-
culated on the basis of a probability-weighted cash flow estimate. SFAS No. 144 also establishes criteria for determining 
when an asset should be treated as held for sale.
 
SFAS No. 144 was effective for the fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. Accordingly, the Company adopted SFAS 
No. 144 as of January 1, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 144 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial posi-
tion, results of operations or cash flows.
 
Goodwill
Until December 31, 2001, the Company periodically assessed the impairment of enterprise level goodwill in accordance with 
the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 17, “Intangible Assets,” and Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 100, “Re-
structuring and Impairment Charges,” An impairment review was performed whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicated that the carrying amount might not be amortizable. Indicators the Company considered important which could have 
triggered an impairment included, but were not limited to, significant underperformance relative to historical or projected 
future operating results, significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for the Company's 
overall business, significant negative industry or economic trends, a significant decline in the Company's stock price for a sus-
tained period and the Company's market capitalization relative to net book value. Whenever the Company determined that 
the carrying amount of goodwill or other intangible assets might not be recoverable based upon the existence of one or more 
of the above indicators of impairment, it measured any impairment based on a projected future discounted free cash flow 
from operating activities. During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company recorded impairment losses with respect 
to goodwill in the amount of €12.0 million. 
 
Since the beginning of 2002, the Company has adopted the accounting standard SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangi-
ble Assets,” which was published in June 2001. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill will no longer be amortized, but will be tested 
for impairment on an annual basis and whenever indicators of impairment arise. The Company identified indicators of impair-
ment under SFAS No. 142 to be the same as under SAB No. 100, as listed previously. The goodwill impairment test, which is 
based on fair value, is to be performed on a reporting unit level. A reporting unit is defined by SFAS No. 131 as an operating 
segment or one level lower. The Company markets its products and services in one segment and thus allocates goodwill to 
one reporting unit. Therefore, impairment is tested at the enterprise level using the Company’s market capitalization as fair 
value. Goodwill will no longer be allocated to other long-lived assets for impairment testing in accordance with SFAS No. 121.
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Derivatives
Since January 1, 2001, the Company has applied SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activi-
ties,” which establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instru-
ments embedded in other contracts or used in hedging activities. All derivatives, whether designated in hedging relationships 
or not, are required to be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. If the derivative is designated as a fair value hedge, the 
changes in fair value of the derivative and of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in earnings. If the 
derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective portions of changes in the fair value of the derivative are recorded 
in accumulated other comprehensive income and are recognized in the income statement when the hedged item affects earn-
ings. The adoption of SFAS No. 133 did not have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial position or results of 
operations as the Company’s current policy is not to enter into hedging activities.
 
Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses of €13.2 million, €3.2 million, and €0.5 million were 
included in sales and marketing expenses for 2000, 2001, and 2002, respectively. 

Stock-Based Compensation
The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” in 
October 1995. This accounting standard permits the use of either a fair value based method of accounting or the method 
defined in Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”) to account for 
stock-based compensation arrangements. The Company has elected to continue to account for its stock-based compensation 
arrangements under the provisions of APB 25, and, accordingly, has included in Note 12 the pro forma disclosures required 
under SFAS No. 123. If compensation cost for the Plan had been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates for the 
awards calculated in accordance with the method prescribed by SFAS No. 123, the impact on the Company's net loss and net 
loss per share would have been as follows (in thousands of €, except per-share amounts):

Year ended December 31, 2000 2001 2002
    
Net loss attributable to common shareholders    

As reported (38,923) (131,798) (27,555)
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense deter-
mined under fair value based method for all awards, net of related 
tax effects (35,928) (55,751) (11,271)
Pro forma (74,851) (187,549) (38,826)

Basic and diluted loss per share    
As reported (2.31) (7.48) (1.47)
Pro forma (4.45) (10.64) (2.07)
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The following assumptions have been made to estimate the fair value of the options:

 2000 2001 2002
    
Risk-free interest on the date of grant 6.3% 4.5% 4.0%
Assumed dividend 0% 0% 0%
Volatility 86% 115% 92%
Expected option lives (years) 4.1 4.1 4.1

 
Revenue Recognition
Intershop derives revenues from two primary sources: (1) software license revenues and (2) services revenues, which include 
maintenance, consulting, and education. While the basis for software license revenue recognition is substantially governed by 
the provisions of Statement of Position No. 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” as amended by SOP 98-4 and SOP 98-9 
and related Interpretations (collectively, “SOP 97-2”) issued by the Accounting Standards Executive Committee of the Ameri-
can Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Company exercises judgment and uses estimates in connection with the 
determination of the amount of software license and services revenues to be recognized in each accounting period.
 
For software license arrangements that do not require significant modification or customization of the underlying software, 
the Company recognizes revenue when: (1) it enters into a legally binding arrangement with a customer for the license of soft-
ware; (2) it delivers the products or perform the services; (3) customer payment is deemed fixed or determinable and free of 
contingencies or significant uncertainties; and, (4) collection is probable. Substantially all of the Company’s license revenues 
are recognized in this manner.
 
Some of the Company’s software arrangements include implementation services sold separately under consulting engage-
ment contracts. Revenues from these arrangements are generally accounted for separately from the license revenue because 
the arrangements qualify as “service transactions,” as defined in SOP 97-2. The more significant factors considered in deter-
mining whether the revenue should be accounted for separately include the nature of services (i.e., consideration of whether 
the services are essential to the functionality of the licensed product), degree of risk, availability of services from other ven-
dors, timing of payments, and impact of milestones or acceptance criteria on the realizability of the software license fee.
 
If an arrangement does not qualify for separate accounting of the license and service transactions, then license revenue is 
generally recognized together with the consulting services based on contract accounting using either the percentage-of-com-
pletion or completed-contract method as described below. Contract accounting is also applied to any arrangements: (1) that 
include milestones or customer specific acceptance criteria, which may affect collection of the license fees; (2) where ser-
vices include significant modification or customization of the software; (3) where significant consulting services are provided 
for in the contract without additional charges; or, (4) where the license payment is tied to the performance of consulting ser-
vices.
 
For arrangements with multiple elements, the Company allocates revenue to each element of a transaction based upon its fair 
value as determined in reliance on “vendor specific objective evidence.” Vendor specific objective evidence of fair value for all 
elements of an arrangement is based upon the normal pricing and discounting practices for those products and services when 
sold separately and, for support services, is additionally measured by the renewal rate. If the Company cannot objectively 
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determine the fair value of any undelivered element included in bundled software and service arrangements, it defers revenue 
until all elements are delivered, services have been performed, or until fair value can objectively be determined. When the fair 
value of a license element has not been established, the Company uses the residual method to record license revenue if the 
fair value of all undelivered elements is determinable. Under the residual method, the fair value of the undelivered elements is 
deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee is allocated to the delivered elements and is recognized as rev-
enue.
 
Intershop’s license arrangements generally do not include acceptance provisions. However, if acceptance provisions exist 
within previously executed terms and conditions that are referenced in the current agreement, the Company then applies judg-
ment in assessing the significance of the provision. If the Company determines that the likelihood of non-acceptance in these 
arrangements is remote, it then recognizes revenue once all of the criteria described above have been met. If such a determi-
nation cannot be made, revenue is recognized upon the earlier of receipt of written customer acceptance or expiration of the 
acceptance period.
 
Intershop assesses whether fees are fixed or determinable at the time of sale and recognizes revenue if all other revenue 
recognition requirements are met. The Company’s standard payment terms are net 30 days; however, terms may vary based 
on the country in which the agreement is executed. Payments that extend beyond the country’s standard payment terms are 
generally deemed not to be fixed or determinable, and thereby do not satisfy the required criteria for revenue recognition. Rev-
enues for these agreements are deferred and recognized upon cash payment by the customer.
 
Revenue for consulting services is generally recognized as the services are performed. If there is a significant uncertainty 
about the project completion or receipt of payment for the consulting services, revenue is deferred until the uncertainty is suf-
ficiently resolved.
 
The Company estimates the percentage-of-completion on contracts with fixed or “not to exceed” fees on a monthly basis uti-
lizing hours incurred to date as a percentage of total estimated hours to complete the project. If Intershop does not have a 
sufficient basis to measure progress towards completion, revenue is recognized when the Company receives final acceptance 
from the customer. When total cost estimates exceed revenues, Intershop accrues for the estimated losses immediately 
based upon an average fully burdened daily rate applicable to the consulting organization delivering the services.
 
The complexity of the estimation process and issues related to the assumptions, risks, and uncertainties inherent with the 
application of the percentage-of-completion method of accounting affect the amounts of revenues and related expenses 
reported in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. A number of internal and external factors can affect Intershop’s 
estimates, including labor rates, utilization and efficiency variances, and specification and testing requirement changes.
 
Allowances for Doubtful Accounts
The Company makes judgments as to its ability to collect outstanding receivables and provide allowances for the portion of 
receivables when collection becomes doubtful. Provisions are made based upon a specific review of all significant outstanding 
invoices. For those invoices not specifically reviewed, provisions are provided at differing rates, based upon the age of the 
receivable. In determining these percentages, Intershop analyzes its historical collection experience and current economic 
trends. If the historical data the Company uses to calculate the allowance provided for doubtful accounts does not reflect the 
future ability to collect outstanding receivables, additional provisions for doubtful accounts may be needed and the future 
results of operations could be materially affected.
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 Segment Reporting
The Company operates primarily in one line of business, which is providing Unified Commerce Management software for man-
aging e-commerce processes across extended enterprises. Accordingly, the Company does not disclose significant additional 
segment information under the definition of segment reporting, defined by the standards of SFAS No. 131, “Disclosure About 
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.”
 
Comprehensive Income
The Company accounts for comprehensive income in accordance with SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income.” 
Comprehensive income is the total of net income and all other changes in shareholders' equity that are not connected with 
changes at shareholder level.
 
Accumulated other comprehensive income consists of the following (in thousands of €):

At December 31, 2001 2002
   
Foreign currency translation gains 2,975 3,132
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities (81) (190)
Comprehensive income 2,894 2,942

 
Income Taxes
The Company uses the asset and liability method in accounting for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Account-
ing for Income Taxes.” Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between 
financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws which will be 
in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.
 
Earnings Per Share
The basic net loss per common share is presented in conformity with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share” for all periods pre-
sented. Basic net loss per share is computed using the weighted-average number of vested outstanding shares of common 
stock.
 
The diluted net loss per share is computed using the weighted-average number of vested shares of common stock outstand-
ing and, in the case of dilution, the unvested common stock outstanding, the potential number of common shares from 
options and warrants to purchase common stock using the treasury stock method. In the case of convertible securities the if-
converted basis is used. The options exercised that result in shares subject to repurchase have been excluded in computing 
the number of weighted-average shares outstanding for basic earnings per share purposes. All potential common shares have 
been excluded from the computation of the diluted net loss per share for 2000, 2001, and 2002 because the effect would be 
antidilutive. The weighted-average number of vested shares of common stock outstanding includes the shares of US, Inc. held 
by two shareholders of the Company as discussed further in Note 1.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators used in calculating basic and diluted earn-
ings per share for the three years ended December 31 respectively (in thousands of €, except per-share data):

Year ended December 31, 2000 2001 2002
    
Net loss (38,923) (131,798) (27,555)
Basic and diluted net loss per share:    
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 17,177 17,627 18,731
Less: Weighted-average shares subject to repurchase (350) - -
Total weighted-average common shares 16,827 17,627 18,731
Basic and diluted net loss per share (2.31) (7.48) (1.47)

  
The net losses per share for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001 have been adjusted to reflect the company's 5:1 
reverse stock split performed in 2002. Share amounts in the consolidated statement of changes of shareholders' equity for 
the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001, have not been adjusted to reflect this reverse stock split.
 
Reclassifications
As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company separately presented goodwill and other intangible assets in the balance 
sheets. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Company is required to present amortization of goodwill and amortization of 
other intangible assets separately in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2002. The 
workforce identified as a separate intangible asset in the acquisitions in 2000 (refer to Note 6) does not qualify as an intangi-
ble asset under SFAS No. 141 and has therefore been reclassified into goodwill. Certain other amounts reported in the fiscal 
years 2000 and 2001 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the fiscal year 2002 financial statement pre-
sentation. These other reclassifications are immaterial.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2002, SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation--Transition and Disclosure,” was issued. SFAS 
No. 148 supplements SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” and offers alternative methods of transi-
tion for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting of stock-based employee compensation recom-
mended in SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 148 also supplements the disclosure obligations contained in SFAS No. 123 and APB 
Opinion No. 28, “Interim Financial Reporting.” The transition and disclosure obligations contained in SFAS 148 apply to the fis-
cal years after December 15, 2002; earlier application is also permitted. The Company has adopted the disclosure provisions 
of SFAS No. 148 in 2002. The Company continues to account for employee stock based compensation under the intrinsic 
value method as prescribed by APB Opinion No. 25.
 
In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” SFAS No. 143 requires compa-
nies to record an appropriate charge in connection with the retirement or disposal of property and equipment in the period in 
which this took place, provided that the fair value can be reasonably determined. The costs incurred in the retirement or dis-
posal of assets are netted against the carrying amount of the long-lived assets. Companies will calculate the changes over 
time in the amount of the anticipated expenses to be incurred for the retirement or disposal of an asset by discounting the 
amount calculated at the beginning of the period. The interest rate used in the calculation of this change corresponds to the 
risk-adjusted rate to be fixed in accordance with the company’s credit rating the first time the expenses are recognized. The 
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carrying amount of the related property and equipment increases by the amount calculated, which is then written down over 
the objects’ remaining useful lives and recorded as operating expenses in the income statement. SFAS No. 143 is effective 
for the fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The Company believes that adopting SFAS No. 143 will not have a material 
adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
 
In June 2002, the FASB published SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” This state-
ment addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and supersedes the pre-
liminary provisions of the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termi-
nation Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” This statement 
requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity must be recognized when the liability is incurred. 
Under Issue 94-3, the liability for an exit cost was recognized as the date of an entity’s commitment to a concrete exit or dis-
posal plan. The new standard holds that a company’s commitment to a plan does not represent a direct obligation to another 
party that would be defined as a liability. SFAS 146 therefore rescinds the definitions and requirements for the accounting of 
exit costs contained in Issue 94-3 until a liability is actually incurred and stipulates that the amount of the liability be initially 
measured at the current fair value. However, this standard does not apply to expenses arising in connection with the retire-
ment of activities in divisions acquired by way of a combination or covered by SFAS 144. The Company does not expect the 
adoption of SFAS No. 146 to have a material adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
 
In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 45”), “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Require-
ments for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” FIN 45 requires a guarantor to recognize, at 
the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken by it in issuing the guarantee. It also 
expands the disclosure requirements in the financial statements of the guarantor with respect to its obligations under certain 
guarantees that it has issued. The Company is required to adopt the initial recognition and initial measurement accounting 
provisions of this interpretation on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The Com-
pany does not anticipate the adoption to have a material effect on the Company’s financial position, or results of operations, 
or cash flows.
 
In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretations No. 46 (“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” This 
interpretation clarifies the application of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” to certain 
entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient 
equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. FIN 46 
is effective February 1, 2003 for variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003, and July 31, 2003 for variable inter-
est entities created prior to February 1, 2003. The Company does not anticipate the adoption of FIN 46 to have a material 
impact on its financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
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     3. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets 

At December 31, 2001 and 2002, property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands of €):

As of December 31, 2001 2002
   
VAT and other tax receivables 3,926 5,224
Pre-payments 2,719 1,410
Unbilled receivables 2,519 261
Receivables from employees 293 72
Other 519 460
Total 9,976 7,427

The Company recorded a doubtful debt allowance of €1.1 million and € 1.2 million against receivables due from employees in 
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively.

     4. Property and Equipment 

At December 2001 and 2002, property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands of €):

 2001 Currency Additions Disposals Impairment 2002
             
Computer equipment 20,852 (881) 417 (2,745) (1,096) 19,547
Furniture and fixtures 5,444 (161) 109 (1,054) (746) 3,592
Leasehold improvements 3,115 (741) 144 (389) (858) 1,271
Subtotal 32,411 (1,783) 670 (4,188) (2,700) 24,410
Accumulated depreciation (18,889) 3,669 (6,415) 1,526   (20,109)
Property and equipment, net 13,522         4,301

The Company did not have any equipment under capital leases at December 31, 2001 or December 31, 2002.

     5. Investments 

During 1998 and 1999, the Company made investments in a non-public company in Israel totaling €0.5 million and €1.2 mil-
lion, respectively. The total investment of €1.7 million in this entity represented an ownership interest of approximately 6% at 
that time. Due to the difficult economic climate and the financial condition and performance of this non-public company, the 
Company wrote down the whole value of this investment in the fiscal year 2001. This resulted in a non-operational charge of 
€1.7 million to the income statement for the year ended December 31, 2001.
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     6. Marketable Securities

Investments in debt and marketable equity securities are categorized as available-for-sale and are stated at fair value, with 
unrealized gains and losses, net of deferred income taxes, and reported as a component of cumulative comprehensive income.
 
In 1999, the Company acquired approximately €1.5 million of common stock in a public company in the United Kingdom. This 
investment was classified as an available-for-sale security and recorded at fair value. In June 2001, the Company determined 
that the decline in fair value of this investment was other than temporary in nature and recorded a write-down of €0.7 million 
on this investment. In October 2001, the Company sold this investment for €0.9 million. The related gain of €0.1 million is 
included in other income.
 
As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, available-for-sale securities consisted of the following (in thousands of €):

 

Cost

Gross
unrealized

gains

Gross
unrealized

losses

Estimated
fair

value
     
December 31, 2001     

Money market funds 19,350 8 - 19,358
December 31, 2002     

Money market funds 4,171 1 - 4,172
 
For the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, the gross realized gains on sales of available-for-sale securities 
totaled €0, €2,043,838, and €46,953, respectively, and the gross realized losses totaled €0, €491,838, and €198,745, 
respectively. The net adjustment to unrealized holding gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities included in other compre-
hensive income totaled €(3,021,760), €429,417, and €80,981, in 2000, 2001, and 2002, respectively.

     7. Acquisitions

Owis Software GmbH
In July 2000, the Company acquired the assets of Owis Software GmbH (“Owis”) for 26,550 shares of the Company's capital 
stock, the market value of which was approximately €2.4 million, and approximately €2.5 million in cash, resulting in an aggre-
gate purchase price of approximately €4.9 million. The value assigned to the shares issued was determined based on the mar-
ket price of the Company's common stock over the period of time before and after the Company and Owis reached agree-
ment on the purchase price and the proposed transaction was announced. The Company did not assume any options in the 
transaction. The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method. Accordingly, the purchase price was allocated to 
the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, based on the completion of the evaluation of the fair values of Owis's assets 
and liabilities at the date of acquisition.
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The following is a summary of the purchase price allocation (in thousands of €):

Current assets and other tangible assets 1,263
Liabilities assumed (1,292)
Assembled workforce 530
Goodwill 4,409
 4,910

 
The acquired assembled workforce and goodwill were regularly amortized until December 31, 2001, with an amortization 
period of three years from the date of acquisition initially being agreed. Upon adoption of SFAS 142 on January 1, 2002, the 
assembled workforce was combined with the goodwill and the regular amortization was suspended.
 
Subotnic GmbH
In December 2000, the Company acquired the assets of Subotnic GmbH (“Subotnic”) for 248,461 shares of the Company's 
capital stock, the fair value of which was approximately €20.3 million. The value assigned to the shares issued was deter-
mined based on the market price of the Company's common stock over the period of time before and after the Company and 
Subotnic reached agreement on the purchase price and the proposed transaction was announced. The Company did not 
assume any options in the transaction. The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method. Accordingly, the pur-
chase price was allocated to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, based on the completion of the evaluation of the 
fair values of Subotnic's assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition.

The following is a summary of the purchase price allocation (in thousands of €):

Current assets and other tangible assets 348
Liabilities assumed (1,353)
Assembled workforce 360
Goodwill 21,019
 20,374

 
The acquired assembled workforce and goodwill were regularly amortized until December 31, 2001, with an amortization 
period of three years from the date of acquisition initially being agreed. Upon adoption of SFAS 142 on January 1, 2002, the 
assembled workforce was combined with the goodwill and the regular amortization was suspended.

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the results as if the acquisition of Owis and Subotnic had 
occurred at the beginning of the fiscal year 2000 (in thousands of €):

Year ended December 31, 2000
  
 (unaudited)
Pro forma total revenue 123,090
Pro forma net loss (48,801)
Pro forma net loss per share - basic/diluted (0.58)
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 These pro forma results have been prepared for illustrative purposes only and include certain adjustments such as additional 
amortization expense as a result of intangible assets arising from the purchase. The pro forma results are not necessarily 
indicative of the results of operations which actually would have resulted had the purchase been in effect at the beginning of 
the respective periods or of future results.

     8. Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets

Goodwill and acquired intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands of €):

 2001 2002
   
Goodwill 13,983 14,403
Assembled workforce 420 -
 14,403 14,403
Accumulated amortization (9,930) (9,930)
Goodwill and acquired intangible assets, net 4,473 4,473

 
In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible 
Assets.” The Company implemented these new accounting standards on a transitional basis for 2002. The transition to SFAS 
No. 141 requires testing of the intangible assets identified in connection with acquisitions. Under the new rules, an assem-
bled workforce is no longer considered an intangible asset. Accordingly, the carrying value of the Company’s assembled work-
force, €0.2 million, was reclassified as goodwill on January 1, 2002.
 
In accordance with the rules for transition to SFAS No. 142, the Company recorded no further scheduled goodwill amortiza-
tion after January 1, 2002. The Company performs an impairment test once a year, or whenever events or changes in circum-
stances occur that indicate the carrying amount might be impaired. The annual impairment test will be carried at the end of 
each fiscal year (December 31).
 
The initial impairment test must be carried out on the date the new accounting rules are adopted. Exceptional amortization 
resulting from the transitional impairment test must be recorded separately from the operating results, as a “cumulative 
effect arising from the adoption of new accounting principles.” The goodwill impairment test is performed in two steps. The 
first step involves determining the fair value for each reporting unit. If the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds the carrying 
value of its net assets, no exceptional goodwill amortization is necessary. If the fair value is lower than the carrying value, the 
fair value of all the unit’s balance sheet assets and liabilities, as well as the identifiable intangible assets, excluding goodwill, 
must be determined for the valuation date. The excess fair value over the amount allocated to the assets and liabilities of a 
reporting unit is the implied fair value of goodwill. If the implied fair value of goodwill is lower than the carrying value of the 
goodwill, an amortization charge must be recorded to reflect the reduced fair value. 
 
In applying SFAS No. 142, the Company has defined the Intershop Group as a single reporting unit, since the Group compa-
nies outside Germany merely provide sales support for the Group companies located in Germany. The German Intershop com-
panies are jointly managed by the Management Board of Intershop Communications AG, whose members are, at the same 
time, directors of the operating companies in Germany. These companies are regarded as a single unit for the purposes of 
internal management reporting. The directors of the Group companies outside Germany report directly to the Management 
Board of Intershop Communications AG.
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 In the fiscal year 2001, the Company recorded an impairment of approximately €12 million, in addition to the normal amortiza-
tion of approximately €9.1 million. The goodwill at January 1, 2002, including assembled workforce, was approximately €4.5 
million.
 
The Company’s transitional impairment test, required in the year in which SFAS No. 142 is adopted, was performed as of Jan-
uary 1, 2002. The fair value of the reporting unit was determined based on the Company’s market capitalization. According to 
these calculations, the fair value of the reporting unit exceeded the carrying value of its net assets. Accordingly, the additional 
analysis was not required and there was no impairment of goodwill upon adoption of SFAS No. 142. The Company’s annual 
impairment test was performed on December 31, 2002, based upon the Company’s market capitalization. Because the fair 
value of the reporting unit exceeded its carrying value, the additional analysis was not required and there was no impairment 
of goodwill at December 31, 2002.

As required by SFAS No. 142, the following table discloses the pro forma net loss for the year and the net loss per share for 
the year in all periods shown in the statement of operations, adjusted to exclude amortization of goodwill and intangible 
assets that are no longer amortized.
 
 2000 2001
   
Reported consolidated profit/loss before the cumulative effect of a change
in accounting principles (38,923) (131,798)
Goodwill amortizations 1,477 20,621
Amortization of intangible assets that are no longer being amortized
(assembled workforce reclassified as goodwill) - 470
Adjusted consolidated profit/loss before the cumulative effect of a change
in accounting principles (37,446) (110,707)

Corresponding per-share amounts, basic and diluted (in €):

 2000 2001
   
Reported consolidated profit/loss before the cumulative effect of a change
in accounting principles (basic and diluted) (2.31) (7.48)
Add-back: Goodwill amortization 0.09 1.17
Add-back: Amortization of intangible assets that are no longer being amortized
(assembled workforce reclassified as goodwill) - 0.03
Adjusted net profit/net loss for the year per share before the cumulative effect
of a change in accounting principles (basic and diluted) (2.22) (6.28)
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     9. Accrued Liabilities

Other liabilities consist of the following (in thousands of €):

Year ended December 31, 2001 2002
   
VAT payable 1,535 5,149
Employee compensation 4,749 2,886
Unvouchered invoices 2,606 1,530
Accrued legal costs 2,458 746
Other 4,254 3,161
Total 15,602 13,472

     10. Restructuring Charges and Asset Impairments

In the quarter ended March 31, 2002, the Company adopted measures to reduce its workforce and to consolidate existing 
facilities, among other things. Other measures included the appointment of new management, the creation of a simplified 
organizational structure, and a sales campaign for new products. These steps were aimed at aligning the Company’s cost 
structure with changing market conditions and accelerating its path to profitability. The Company completed the majority of 
these restructuring measures by December 2002.

The following table summarizes restructuring charges for the fiscal year 2002 and accrued restructuring costs as at Decem-
ber 31, 2002 (in thousands of €):
 
 Employee-

related charges
Facility-related 

charges Other costs Total
     
Accrued restructuring costs as of
December 31, 2001 183 10,313 157 10,653
Restructuring charges for the year 2,447 2,713 166 5,326
Cash payments (1,944) (5,300) (237) (7,481)
Currency adjustments (68) (845) (4) (917)
Impairment of property and equipment - (2,700) - (2,700)
Accrued restructuring costs as of
December 31, 2002 618 4,181 82 4,881

 
The above costs are broken down as follows:

Employee-Related Charges
Due to the deteriorating economic situation, a decision was reached in the first quarter of 2002 to simplify the Company’s 
organizational structure. This involved streamlining the organization by reducing the workforce to around 500 by the end of 
the second quarter of 2002.
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 The Company has reduced the number of full-time employees worldwide by 254 since January 1, 2002. This reduction has 
affected 231 full-time employees in Europe, 17 full-time employees in the Americas, and 6 full-time employees in the Asia 
Pacific region. Employee reductions affected all functional departments, with 105 full-time employees affected in services, 32 
full-time employees in general and administrative functions, 7 full-time employees in sales, 31 full-time employees in market-
ing, and 79 full-time employees in research and development. Headcount reductions occurred in all employee groups within 
each function.
 
The number of employees on December 31, 2002 was 479 and it is planned to reduce this figure further to approximately 450 
by June 30, 2003.
 
The accruals for employee-related charges mainly comprise the expected future payments relating to the termination of con-
tracts, including severance payments, payroll taxes, and legal costs.
 
Facility-Related Charges
In the fiscal year 2002, the Intershop Group recorded restructuring costs of approximately €2.7 million in connection with the 
consolidation of existing facilities, which principally relate to probable future payments for existing lease commitments for 
property no longer in use, net of sublease income.
 
Included in this charge is approximately €2.7 million of asset impairments related to certain long-lived assets that were either 
abandoned during the year or for which the resulting estimated future cash flows were insufficient to cover the carrying 
amounts.
 
The accruals for facility-related costs mainly include the expected future payments for existing lease commitments for prop-
erty no longer in use, net of sublease income. The sub lease income has been estimated based upon the contractual agree-
ments in place as of the date the financials were prepared.
 
Included in long-term other assets is a lease deposit of US$1.2 million that has fully been accrued for within accrued restruc-
turing costs. The lessor has a right to the deposit and in the amount of his cash withdrawals, the accrual is released.
 
Other Costs
The accruals for other restructuring costs principally relate to various non-cancelable contracts for which there is no future 
benefit to the Company.
 
Restructuring accruals are calculated on the basis of financial estimates and data available as of December 31, 2002. Adjust-
ments to this restructuring reserve will be made in future periods, if necessary, based upon actual events and available infor-
mation at that moment in time.
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     11. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases
Facilities and certain furniture and equipment are leased under operating leases. As of December 31, 2002, future minimum 
annual lease payments were as follows (in thousands of €):
 
Year ended December 31,  
  
2003 5,013
2004 4,340
2005 3,968
2006 3,877
2007 3,583
Subsequent years 17,258
Total 38,039

 
Rent expense was €6.1 million, €10.3 million, and €4.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002, 
respectively. Rent expense for 2002 and 2001 excludes any facility-related restructuring costs discussed in Note 9. Rental 
income of €0.2 million was received in 2002 and offsets rent expense. There was no rental income in 2000 and 2001. The 
future rental income secured by contract as of December 31, 2002 totaled €2.4 million.
 
Related to leased property in Jena, Germany, a bank issued a guarantee to cover the lease payments should the Company fail 
to fulfill its obligations under the lease agreement. This cash account has been placed in a restricted account. The level of 
restricted cash will reduce as the lease term on the property reduces. The lease has been contracted for until November 
2013. The restricted cash will be released by 10% of the original amount every year, beginning October 10, 2003.
 
Legal Matters
The Company is a defendant in various legal matters arising in the normal course of business. It is possible that an adverse rul-
ing in any such matter individually, or some or all of the matters collectively, may have a materially adverse effect on our 
results of operations. The Company expenses legal costs associated with loss contingency as such legal costs are incurred. 
 
The Company is a defendant in a consolidated class action lawsuit in the United States and an investigation by the German 
Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht, BAFin, formerly German Federal 
Supervisory Office for Securities Trading--Bundesaufsichtsamt für den Wertpapierhandel, BAWe). At the beginning of 2001, 
several securities class action lawsuits were filed in the US against Intershop Communications AG, Management Board mem-
bers, certain other officers, and the underwriters of the Company's September 2000 public offering. The complaints allege 
that the defendants made material misrepresentations and omissions of material facts concerning the Company’s business 
performance. The complaints seek an unspecified amount of damages. The Company believes there is no merit to these cases 
and intends to defend the cases vigorously. However, there can be no assurance that the Company will prevail in the lawsuit, 
or that the outcome of the lawsuit will not adversely affect the Company's operations. In Germany, the BAFin announced in 
January 2001 that it had initiated an investigation regarding a possible violation of the duty to disclose material information in 
connection with the release on January 2, 2001, of Intershop Communications AG's preliminary results for 2000. The BAFin 
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handed this case over to the public prosecutor in Hamburg, Germany, who initiated an investigation into complaints about 
stock price manipulations in May 2001. The Company is cooperating in full with these investigations and, to the best of the 
management's knowledge, has never previously been the subject of such investigations. The Company believes there is no 
merit to these allegations.
 
In January 2001, a US company filed a suit in the federal district court in Delaware against Intershop Communications, Inc., 
claiming violation of certain patent rights. The complaint seeks an unspecified amount of compensation for damages based 
on the alleged patent infringements. This case was settled for US$0.5 million on September 24, 2001. As part of the settle-
ment, the parties exchanged certain licenses and rights for a limited term under certain of their respective United States 
patents and patent applications, in addition to other terms and conditions of the settlement agreement which were not dis-
closed.
 
In the reporting period, a claim about €5 million regarding the violation of a license agreement was legally asserted by 
another software company. An out-of-court settlement with this software company has been reached but is subject to the 
approval of the software company’s stockholders. At the date of reporting, the Company has not been informed that the 
approval would not be given.

     12. Shareholders’ Equity 

Stock Splits and Change in Stated Value
On June 27, 2000, the Company's Annual Stockholders’ Meeting authorized a 5-for-1 stock split and authorized management 
to repurchase up to 10% of its outstanding common stock in the period up to November 2001. The stock split became effec-
tive on August 16, 2000, when it was registered in the commercial register in accordance with the German Stock Corporation 
Act.
 
On September 11, 2002, the Management Board of Intershop Communications AG announced that the Company’s capital 
stock had been reduced by 50% and convened a Special Stockholders’ Meeting. This meeting on October 30, 2002 approved 
a simplified reduction of capital by way of a 5:1 reverse stock split to offset losses and other impairments. This took effect on 
its entry in the commercial register on December 12, 2002 and was technically implemented at the close of trading on Jan-
uary 17, 2003. The Company’s common stock amounted to €19,306,400 on December 31, 2002. 
 
The 5:1 reserve stock split of the Company’s common bearer shares admitted to trading was implemented on January 17, 
2003 at the close of trading; the first trading date for the converted common bearer stock was January 20, 2003.
 
The net loss per share amount for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001, has been adjusted to reflect the Company’s
 5:1 reverse stock split during 2002. Share amounts in the consolidated statement of changes of shareholders` equity for the 
years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001, have not been adjusted to reflect this reverse stock split.
 
Capital Increase in Fiscal Year 2002
On March 12, 2002, the Company's Chief Executive Officer, Stephan Schambach, completed the purchase of 8,334,000 
shares of common stock from the Company at a price of €1.20 per share, in a private placement transaction. The capital 
increase was made from authorized capital, and shareholders’ subscription rights were excluded. The transaction resulted in 
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total proceeds of approximately €10.0 million to the Company. The purchase price per share was based on the XETRA daily 
closing price at the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on March 1, 2002, the last trading day prior to the day on which the Company's 
Supervisory Board granted Mr. Schambach the right to purchase the shares.
 
American Depositary Shares (ADS)
In February 2002, the Company changed the ratio of its American Depositary Shares (ADSs). The ratio of ADSs to underlying 
Intershop Communications AG common bearer shares was changed from two ADSs equaling one common bearer share to 
one ADS equaling five common bearer shares. With this ratio change, each of Intershop's Nasdaq-listed ADSs evidenced 
ownership of five underlying common bearer shares listed on its primary stock exchange, the Prime Standard in Frankfurt, Ger-
many. The ratio change did not affect the value of an investor's ADR holdings. Stockholders of Intershop common bearer 
shares did not see any change in the number of shares held. The ratio change was non-dilutive and had no impact on Inter-
shop's balance sheet.
 
In connection with the Company’s reverse stock split, a change in the exchange ratio of ADSs to the underlying common 
bearer shares from 1:5 to 1:1 took legal effect on February 6, 2003. This means that since February 6, 2003 each of Inter-
shop Communications AG's Nasdaq-listed ADSs evidences ownership of one underlying common bearer share listed on the 
Company’s primary stock exchange, the Prime Standard in Frankfurt.
 
Deferred Compensation
In connection with the granting of certain stock options to employees in the fiscal year 1998, the Company recorded deferred 
compensation of approximately €1.0 million representing the intrinsic value of the options, i.e., the difference between the 
deemed value of the common stock for accounting purposes and the option exercise price of such options at the date of 
grant. This amount is presented as a reduction of shareholders' equity and amortized ratably over the vesting period of the 
applicable options. Compensation expense is decreased in the period of forfeiture for any accrued but unvested compensa-
tion arising from the early termination of an option holder's services. The balance of €273,000 was expensed in full during the 
year ended December 31, 2000. No compensation expense related to any other periods presented has been recorded.
 
1997 Equity Incentive Plan (all data subsequent to 5:1 reverse stock split)
The Company had originally reserved 2,000,000 shares of common stock for issuance to employees, directors, and consul-
tants under its 1997 Equity Incentive Plan (the 1997 Plan). The Supervisory Board may grant incentive or non-statutory stock 
options at prices not less than 100% or 85%, respectively, of the fair value as determined by the Supervisory Board at the date 
of grant. Options vest ratably over periods determined by the Board, generally three years. The Board also has the authority to 
set exercise dates (no longer than ten years from the date of grant), payment terms, and other provisions for each grant. The 
Company had the right of first refusal for all common stock issued under the 1997 Plan should the holder desire to sell or 
otherwise transfer any of the shares. The Company's right of first refusal terminated upon the effective date July 16, 1998, of 
the Company's initial public offering.
 
1999 Equity Incentive Plan (all data subsequent to 5:1 reverse stock split)
Effective as of June 21, 1999, the Company adopted a new stock option plan (the 1999 Plan) for the issuance of shares to 
Management Board members, executive officers, and certain employees. The options under the 1999 Plan vest ratably over a 
four-year period beginning six months from the date of grant; however, pursuant to the German Stock Corporation Act, no 
options will be exercisable, even though a portion is vested, prior to the second anniversary of the date of grant. The exercise 
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price of the options is equal to 120% of the market price of the shares at the date of grant, where the market price is deter-
mined to be the average closing price as quoted on the Prime Standard for the 10 trading days prior to the date of grant.
 
There are two pools of shares authorized under the 1999 Plan. There are 133,000 shares for grants of stock options to mem-
bers of the Management Board and general managers of subsidiaries and 1,500,000 shares for grants of stock options to all 
other employees. 
 
2001 Equity Incentive Plan (all data subsequent to 5:1 reverse stock split)
As of January 1, 2001, the Company adopted a new stock option plan (the 2001 Plan) for the issuance of shares to all employ-
ees. No options under this plan have been allocated to the Management Board. The options under the 2001 Plan vest ratably 
over a fifty-month period beginning from the date of grant; however, pursuant to the German Stock Corporation Act, no 
options will be exercisable, even though a portion is vested, prior to the six months after the date of grant. The exercise price 
of the options is the fair value at the date of grant, defined as equivalent to the XETRA closing price on the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange for voting shares of stock of the Company.
 
The Company has reserved 1,930,500 shares of common stock for issuance to employees under its 2001 Equity Incentive 
Plan.
 
Appropriation of Additional Paid-in capital
In accordance with the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz), the Company reclassified €155.5 million in 2001 and 
€92.3 million in 2002 of its additional paid-in capital to accumulated deficit, thus fully offsetting the losses carried forward. 
Without this reclassification, the accumulated deficit would be as follows (in thousands of €):

As of December 31, 2001 2002
   
(Accumulated deficit) retained earnings, as reported (60,632) 4,124
Add: appropriation of additional paid-in capital (155,495) (247,805)
Accumulated deficit, pro forma (216,127) (243,681)

 
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company applies APB Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations in accounting for the Plan. 
Option activity under the plans was as follows (in thousands of €, except per-share data): To facilitate comparison, the prior-
year figures were adjusted using a 5:1 ratio in line with the reduction in capital during the year under review.
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Option activity under the plans was as follows (in thousands of €, except per-share data; to facilitate comparison, the prior-
year figures were adjusted using a 5:1 ratio in line with the reduction in capital during the year under review):

Year Ended
December 31, 2000 2000 2001 2001 2002 2002
 

Number of 
shares out-

standing

Weighted-
average 
exercise 
price (€)

Number of 
shares out-

standing

Weighted-
average 
exercise 
price (€)

Number of 
shares out-

standing

Weighted-
average 
exercise 
price (€)

       
Outstanding at beginning of period 473 73.90 986 332.40 1,158 174.25
Granted 817 499.45 791 23.25 1,325 6.90
Exercised (176) 25.05 (38) 10.75 1 3.19
Forfeited (128) 305.55 (581) 250.30 (505) 103.75
Outstanding at end of period 986 332.40 1,158 174.25 1,979 77.60
Exercisable options at end of period 346 155.78 387 216.72 681 141.98 
Weighted average fair market value
of options granted during the year (€) 817 301.70 791 13.75 1,325 4.63 

The following table summarizes information with respect to the stock options outstanding on December 31, 2002:

Range of Exercise Price

Number of 
options out-

standing

Weighted-aver-
age remaining 
contractual life

Weighted-aver-
age exercise 

price (€)

Number exer-
cisable on 
12/31/02

Weighted-aver-
age exercise 

price (€)
 (000s) (in years)  (000s)  
      
5.00   – 75.80 1,661 7.2 11.90 464 17.30
75.80  – 151.60 63 1.7 107.90 52 107.15
151.60  – 227.40 10 3.4 185.35 5 187.60
227.40  – 303.20 7 2.6 247.30 4 247.55
303.20  – 379.00 43 2.3 336.65 28 335.20
379.00  – 454.80 6 2.4 396.80 3 394.45
454.80  – 530.65 37 2.6 484.20 22 484.35
530.65 – 606.45 138 2.2 574.80 93 575.00
606.45 – 682.25 10 2 668.10 7 667.80
682.25 – 758.05 4 2.2 702.90 3 702.90
 1,979 6.4 77.60 681 141.95

 
The 1997 Plan allows for the issuance of options that are immediately exercisable through execution of a restricted stock pur-
chase agreement. Shares purchased subject to a restricted stock purchase agreement generally vest over three years. As of 
December 31, 2002, no shares of common stock issued and outstanding were unvested and subject to repurchase by the 
Company. All shares that were exercised early are held by a trustee on behalf of the employee. In the event that an employee 
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leaves the Company with unvested shares, the Company repurchases the unvested shares from the employee at a price equal 
to the original issuance price and sells the shares in the open market, with the proceeds of the sale being contributed to the 
Company.

Shares Reserved for Future Issuance
As of December 31, 2002, the Company had authorized and conditional capital of 48,262,500 and 43,949,219 shares, respec-
tively. Authorized capital is equivalent to additional authorized shares for acquisitions or sales of common stock with the 
approval of the Company's Supervisory Board. Shares reserved for future issuance out of authorized and conditional capital 
are as follows:
 
Conversion of remaining US, Inc. shares 13,644,500
Employee stock options 30,304,719
 43,949,219

     13. Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using an asset and liability approach under which deferred income taxes are calcu-
lated based upon enacted tax laws and rates applicable to the periods in which taxes become payable.

The income tax benefit differs from the amounts which would result by applying the applicable German statutory rates (53.2%, 
40.4%, and 40.4% in 2000, 2001, and 2002, respectively, to the loss before taxes, as follows (in thousands of €):
 
Year ended December 31, 2000 2001 2002
    
Provision (benefit) at German statutory rate (20,707) (53,246) (11,132)
Foreign income/losses taxed/benefited at a different tax rate 5,914 3,611 880
Change in valuation allowance 58,914 68,715 31,623
Tax credits - - -
Permanent differences (394) 270 49
Consolidation differences (60,597) (13,096) (19,088)
Change in statutory tax rate 15,949 - -
Other 921 (6,254) (2,332)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes - - -
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The components of the deferred tax asset were as follows (in thousands of €): 

Year ended December 31, 2001 2002
   
Net operating loss carryforwards 140,236 175,154
Tax credit carryforwards 82 82
Accruals not currently deductible 4,173 443
Interest expense not currently deductible 1,775 2,188
Other 1,622 1,044
 147,888 178,911
Valuation allowance (147,888) (178,911)
Net deferred tax assets - -

 
A valuation allowance has been recorded for the entire deferred tax assets for all periods through December 31, 2001 as a 
result of uncertainties regarding the realization of the assets due to the limited operating history of the Company and its lack 
of profitability through December 31, 2002.

For the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company had net loss carryforwards for tax reporting purposes in various tax 
jurisdictions as follows (in thousands of €):

US Federal 135,380
US State 135,380
German 265,753
Other 59,338
Total 595,851

 
In addition, as of December 31, 2002, the Company had US Federal and US State income tax credit carryforwards of approxi-
mately €70,000 and €40,000, respectively. US Federal and State net operating loss carryforwards expire in various periods 
through 2019. The German net operating loss carryforwards relate to corporate income tax and municipal trade tax and carry 
forward indefinitely. The US Tax Reform Act of 1986 and German tax laws contain provisions which may limit the net operat-
ing loss and tax credit carryforwards to be used in any given year upon the occurrence of certain events, including a signifi-
cant change in ownership interest. 

     14. Related Parties

During 2000 and 2001, the Company generated revenue from certain related parties. During these periods, members of our 
Supervisory Board were executives or board members of these customers. Revenues from sales to these related parties as a 
percentage of total revenues were as follows:



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

53

 2000 2001 2002
    
Related Party A 2% 2% 0%
Related Party B 3% 1% 0%

     15. Industry Segment and Geographic Information 

The Company operates primarily in one line of business, which is providing Unified Commerce Management software for man-
aging online commerce processes across extended enterprises. Accordingly, the Company does not disclose significant addi-
tional segment information under the definition of segment reporting, defined by SFAS No. 131. However, the Company’s busi-
ness has five international sales geographies: Germany, United States, United Kingdom, Asia Pacific, and other (which 
includes France, Denmark, Norway, and Sweden). These geographies are supported by the central General Administration as 
well as by the Research & Development and Technical Support departments. The Company’s products are developed at its 
headquarter in Jena, Germany, and are sold in Europe, North America, Australia, and Asia via the Company’s own direct distri-
bution, sales partners, and independent distributors.
 
For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, information concerning the Company's geographic locations is 
summarized as follows (in thousands of €):

2002

 Germany
United
States

United
Kingdom

Asia
Pacific Other* Total

       
Revenues       
Licenses 14,669 4,580 685 751 1,777 22,462
Services, maintenance, and other 14,151 4,368 861 326 2,929 22,635
Total revenues 28,820 8,948 1,546 1,077 4,706 45,097
Gross profit       
Licenses 13,400 4,514 684 751 1,825 21,174
Services, maintenance, and other 263 2,497 (195) 192 2,064 4,821
Total gross profit (loss) 13,663 7,011 489 943 3,889 25,995
Total operating expenses 47,235 9,570 6,351 2,814 7,806 73,776
Operating income (loss) (18,415) (622) (4,805) (1,737) (3,100) (28,679)
Other income (expense), net      1,124
Net loss      (27,555)
Long-lived assets 3,473 189 451 2 186 4,301
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2001

 Germany
United
States

United
Kingdom

Asia
Pacific Other* Total

       
Revenues       
Licenses 13,331 1,832 793 1,538 2,986 20,480
Services, maintenance, and other 30,496 6,353 7,672 789 2,864 48,174
Total revenues 43,827 8,185 8,465 2,327 5,850 68,654
Gross profit       
Licenses 12,906 1,530 566 1,049 2,091 18,142
Services, maintenance, and other 7,407 (2,096) 2,116 (1,717) 1,031 6,741
Total gross profit (loss) 20,313 (566) 2,682 (668) 3,122 24,883
Total operating expenses 82,682 41,952 10,362 12,531 10,893 158,420
Operating income (loss) (62,369) (42,518) (7,680) (13,199) (7,771) (133,537)
Other income (expense), net      1,739
Net loss      (131,798)
Long-lived assets 8,501 1,635 2,380 645 361 13,522

2000

 Germany
United
States

United
Kingdom

Asia
Pacific Other* Total

       
Revenues       
Licenses 28,145 26,946 7,667 7,856 3,454 74,068
Services, maintenance, and other 25,320 12,669 5,304 - 5,633 48,926
Total revenues 53,465 39,615 12,971 7,856 9,087 122,994
Gross profit       
Licenses 37,283 22,459 3,690 2,339 3,008 69,779
Services, maintenance, and other 5,346 (2,847) 1,588 116 1,270 5,473
Total gross profit (loss) 42,629 19,612 5,278 2,455 4,278 74,252
Total operating expenses 41,961 50,354 8,287 7,185 7,214 115,001
Operating income (loss) 668 (30,742) (3,009) (4,730) (2,936) (40,749)
Other income (expense), net      1,826
Net loss      (38,923)
Long-lived assets 9,106 7,937 3,188 1,308 515 22,054

* Other significant geographic locations include France and Sweden in 2000, 2001, and 2002, and Dubai in 2001.
 
The accounting policies followed by the Company's business segments are the same as those described in Note 2 to the con-
solidated financial statements. 
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The Company generated the following license revenues from its Enfinity and Intershop 4 product lines (in thousands of €):
 
Year ended December 31, 2000 2001 2002
    
Enfinity 43,268 17,391 20,259
Intershop 4 30,800 3,089 2,203
Total 74,068 20,480 22,462

 
€1 million of Intershop 4 revenues during the fiscal year were accounted for by a related party. The Company sold Intershop 4 
licenses to ePages Software GmbH (formerly Dart Software GmbH), a company that distributes software to small and mid-
sized enterprises and which is majority-owned by Wilfried Beeck, former CFO of Intershop and a Company shareholder at the 
balance sheet date. On November 20, 2002, Intershop signed an extensive cooperation agreement with ePages Software 
GmbH for the further development and worldwide distribution of the Intershop 4 product line. The cooperation agreement gov-
erns sales and marketing, customer and partner support, software development, technical support, consulting, and training.

     16. Local Disclosure Requirements 

Management Board
Stephan Schambach, Management Board Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Dr. Jürgen Schöttler, Management Board member and Chief Financial Officer (since April 15, 2002)
Werner Fuhrmann, Management Board member and President EMEA (since July 25, 2002)
 
Supervisory Board
Eckhard Pfeiffer, Chairman (re-elected June 6)
Theodore J. Smith, Deputy Chairman (re-elected June 6)
Prof. Hartmut Esslinger (re-elected June 6, resigned August 30, 2002)
Hans W. Gutsch (re-elected June 6)
Dr. Hagen Hultzsch (re-elected June 6, resigned November 1, 2002)
Peter Mark Droste (elected November 28, 2002)
Burgess Jamieson (elected June 6, 2002)
 
Board Compensation
The compensation of the Management Board for the fiscal year 2002 amounted to €691,841, of which €293,000 in unpaid 
performance-related remuneration was set aside. The members of the Management Board were granted a total of 120,000 
stock options from the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan.
 
In the fiscal year 2002 the annual compensation, accrued but not paid, for the Supervisory Board was €100,000. According to 
the Articles of Association, this consists solely of fixed, not performance-related remuneration.
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By way of a unanimous vote by the Supervisory Board in which he did not take part, Mr. Hans W. Gutsch, a Supervisory Board 
member since 2001, was engaged to advise the management during the Company’s difficult restructuring phase. Mr. Gutsch 
was chosen for this task because of his in-depth knowledge of the industry. His remuneration amounts to €200,000 per 
annum plus a lump-sum compensation of €10,000 per month.

Investments
The following table lists directly and indirectly held investments of the Company that are included in the consolidated financial 
statements as of December 31, 2002:

 Ownership %
  
Intershop Communications, Inc., San Francisco, USA 82.5
Intershop Communications GmbH, Jena, Germany 100
Intershop Software Entwicklungs GmbH, Jena, Germany 100
Intershop Communications Ventures GmbH, Hamburg, Germany 100
Intershop (UK) Ltd., London, United Kingdom 100
Intershop Communications S.a.r.l., Paris, France 100
IS Nordic, AB, Stockholm, Sweden 100
Intershop Communications Hong Kong Co. Ltd., Hong Kong, China 99.99
Intershop Communications Singapore Pte Ltd., Singapore 100
Intershop Communications Australia Pty Ltd., Sydney, Australia 100
Intershop Communications Taiwan Co. Ltd., Taipei, Taiwan 100
Intershop Communications Korea Co. Ltd., Seoul, Korea 99.98
Intershop Communications K.K., Tokyo, Japan 100

 
Employees
The Intershop Group had an average of 554 employees in the fiscal year 2002. 

     17. Events Subsequent to the Balance Sheet Date 

Effective January 1, 2003, Intershop’s common bearer shares were admitted to the new Prime Standard trading segment of 
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. The newly created Prime Standard trading segment essentially replaced the Neuer Markt trad-
ing segment on which Intershop’s common bearer shares had previously been traded. With admission, Intershop complies 
with the comprehensive transparency standards of the Prime Standard trading segment, including quarterly financial report-
ing, use of internationally accepted accounting standards (e.g., US GAAP), publication of a financial calendar, at least one ana-
lyst conference per year, ad-hoc disclosures and ongoing financial communication in both German and English. 
 
On January 14, 2003, the Company announced an effective date of January 17, 2003 for the technical execution of the 
reverse stock split approved at the company’s Special Stockholders’ Meeting held on October 30, 2002. As a result of the 
reverse stock split, five old Intershop common bearer shares were exchanged for one new Intershop common bearer share. 
The reverse split was implemented after the close of trading on January 17, 2003 and the converted shares were traded for 
the first time on January 20, 2003. Following the stock split, the International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) of Inter-
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shop Communications AG’s common bearer shares changed from ISIN DE 0006227002 (equivalent to German Securities Iden-
tification Number – WKN 622700) to ISIN DE 0007472920 (equivalent to German Securities Identification Number – WKN 
747292), and the ticker symbol of Intershop’s shares traded on Prime Standard changed from ISH to ISH1. The new shares 
began trading on a consolidated basis on January 20, 2003. Subsequent to the reverse stock split of Intershop’s ordinary com-
mon bearer shares traded in Germany, a change of the ratio of Intershop’s American Depositary Shares (ADS) quoted on Nas-
daq National Market to the underlying ordinary shares traded in Germany was effected on February 6, 2003. After the ratio 
change, one ADS evidenced one Intershop common bearer share instead of five Intershop common bearer shares before the 
ratio change.
 
Subsequent to the one-for-five reverse stock split of Intershop’s ordinary common bearer shares traded in Germany, a change 
of the ratio of Intershop’s American Depositary Shares (ADS) quoted on Nasdaq National Market to the underlying ordinary 
shares traded in Germany was effected on February 6, 2003. After the ratio change, 1 ADS evidenced 1 Intershop common 
bearer share instead of 5 Intershop common bearer shares before the ratio change. The ratio change did not affect the value 
of an investor’s ADS holdings. The ratio change was non-dilutive and had no impact on Intershop’s balance sheet.
 
On January 21, 2003, the Company announced that it planned to reduce its total operational cost base (cost of revenue and 
operating cost) to a quarterly run rate of approximately €13 million. In view of the ongoing volatility in the software market, 
Intershop’s cost saving plan is aimed at redeploying the company’s resources to better execute its strategic plan. The compa-
ny’s cost-saving actions were expected to be completed in the first quarter of 2003, when the Company anticipates taking a 
restructuring charge of approximately €1.5 million.  
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     1. General

The consolidated financial statements of Intershop Commu-
nications Aktiengesellschaft (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Company” or “Intershop Communications AG”) as of 
December 31, 2002 were prepared as exempting consoli-
dated financial statements in accordance with sec-
tion 292a of the German Commercial Code--HGB (Handels-
gesetzbuch) in conformity with US generally accepted 
accounting principles (“US GAAP”) and on the basis of the 
German Accounting Standard No 1 (GAS 1) issued by the 
German Standardization Committee (Deutscher Stan-
disierungsrat DRSC e.V.). The provisions of the HGB and 
the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz--AktG) dif-
fer from US GAAP in certain significant respects. The main 
differences that may be relevant to an evaluation of the net 
assets, financial position, and results of operations of the 
Company are described below. Pursuant to the HGB, all 
items in the balance sheet and income statement must be 
set out in the form and order laid down in sections 266 
and 275 of the HGB. US GAAP requires a different presen-
tation, in which balance sheet items are presented with 
more liquid items first. Under US GAAP, the short-term por-
tions of long-term receivables and liabilities are shown in a 
separate balance sheet item. The portion that is due in less 
than one year is treated as short term. Software purchased 
for internal use is not shown as an intangible asset, as it is 
in financial statements prepared in accordance with the 
HGB, but as property and equipment (furniture, fixtures, 
and office equipment). According to US GAAP, the develop-
ment cost of internally generated software can be capital-
ized and amortized over its estimated useful life. The HGB 
does not allow internally generated software forming part 
of fixed assets to be capitalized. From 1998 until the pre-
sent time, the Company has charged all software develop-
ment costs to research and development as incurred in 
accordance with US GAAP. 

     2. Deferred Taxes on Loss Carryforwards

According to the HGB, deferred tax refund claims arising 
from tax loss carryforwards may not be shown on the bal-
ance sheet, as expected future tax savings are deemed to 
be not yet realized. US GAAP requires these types of future 
tax reduction claims to be capitalized. Their recognition 
depends upon the probability of the loss carryforwards 
being utilized within the required period. The Company has 
written off its capitalized tax loss carryforwards as of 
December 31, 2002 due to uncertainties regarding their 
realization. 

     3. Employee Stock Options

According to US GAAP, stock-based compensation issued 
to employees may be accounted for in two ways. Under 
the first method, the fair value of stock-based compensa-
tion is determined and recorded as an expense over the 
vesting period of the option or other equity instrument. 
Alternatively, only the difference between the exercise 
price of the option and the market price of the underlying 
security at the date of grant are recognized as an expense 
over the vesting period. Under this method, the pro forma 
impact on net income of accounting for stock-based com-
pensation using the first method must be disclosed in the 
financial statements. The Company has chosen to apply 
the second method and presents the pro forma impact in 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
As noted above, the difference between the exercise price 
of the option and the market price of the underlying secu-
rity at the date of grant are to be treated, according to 
US GAAP, as personnel expenses recorded ratably over the 
vesting period of the option and deferred in shareholders’ 
equity. In line with currently accepted accounting rules, no 
expense would be recognized in the income statement pur-
suant to HGB.
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     4. Shareholders’ Equity

According to the HGB, the Company would have had to pre-
pare consolidated financial statements for the first time fol-
lowing the acquisition of the majority of shares in Inter-
shop Communications, Inc. on June 22, 1998, and to per-
form the capital consolidation as of this date. The differ-
ence between the book value of the participation and the 
equity capital of the subsidiary Intershop Communications, 
Inc. would have to be distributed according to the actual 
value of the assets and liabilities included in consolidation. 
The remainder would have to be disclosed as goodwill and 
either amortized over its expected useful life or offset 
against the capital reserves on the face of the balance 
sheet. The valuation base from the Company's single-entity 
financial statements would have to be shown as capital 
stock. The amount allotted to the minority shareholders in 
Intershop Communications, Inc. would have to be dis-
closed under shareholders’ equity as “minority interests in 
capital” and in the income statement as “minority interests 
in profit/loss.” Under US GAAP, the capital consolidation 
of the Company in line with APB 16 “Business Combina-
tions” is effected as a “transaction under common con-
trol,” which eliminates the transfer of the shares in Inter-
shop Communications GmbH, Jena, to Intershop Communi-
cations, Inc., as well as the transfer of the shares in Inter-
shop Communications, Inc. to Intershop Communications 
AG and means that only the amount actually raised is 
reported as capital stock. In line with this, no differences 
resulted from these transactions under US GAAP. Due to 
the fact that the minority shareholders of Intershop Com-
munications, Inc. have a right of conversion for the condi-
tional capital of the shareholders, no minority shares in the 
capital or the profit/loss are shown. Therefore, under 
US GAAP, the time of first consolidation does not apply, so 
that the disclosures made before the formation of Inter-
shop Communications AG reflect the individual group struc-
tures.

     5. Revenue Recognition

In accordance with US GAAP, sales revenue is recognized 
in compliance with the American Institute of Public Accoun-
tants´ Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2, “Software Rev-
enue Recognition,” and related interpretations. There is no 
general difference to HGB with regard to licensing revenue. 
US GAAP requires accounting for work in process on ser-
vice transactions to be performed according to the percent-
age of completion method, whereby the progress of each 
project leads to revenue recognition on a pro-rata basis. 
Under the HGB, work in process would have to be dis-
closed at the cost of manufacture under inventories. Ser-
vice revenue would only be taken into account upon com-
pletion of work.

     6. Costs Associated with Certain Equity Transac-
tions

According to US GAAP, costs associated with certain 
equity transactions (for example, public offerings of stock), 
net of any related income tax effects, are treated as a 
reduction of the proceeds from the transaction. Under the 
HGB, these costs represent expenses for the period. 

     7. Foreign Currency Transactions

Under US GAAP, foreign currency transactions (for exam-
ple, foreign currency denominated trade receivables or 
payables) are measured at the rate prevailing on the date 
on which they are initially recognized. These balance sheet 
items must be measured at the year-end rates at each sub-
sequent balance sheet date. Foreign currency adjustments 
resulting from exchange rate fluctuations are recognized in 
income, with any unrealized gains being recorded in the 
income statement. Under HGB, revaluation losses are rec-
ognized in the income statement at each balance sheet 
date only, while gains are only recognized when realized 
(for example, upon payment of a foreign currency liability). 
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     8. Acquisitions

Under US GAAP, all acquisitions after June 30, 2001 are 
accounted for using the purchase method in accordance 
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) 
No. 141, “Business Combinations.” This method requires 
the assets and liabilities of the acquired company to be re-
measured at the time of combination. Any difference 
between the re-measured assets and liabilities (net assets) 
acquired and the consideration given is disclosed as good-
will. Gains or losses by the acquired company are recog-
nized only from the acquisition date forward. Effective Jan-
uary 1, 2002, Intershop no longer amortized the goodwill 
that arose from acquisitions before June 30, 2001, on a 
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life but reviews 
goodwill for impairment on an annual basis in accordance 
with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible 
Assets.” Under HGB, the purchase method is used to mea-
sure combinations, and, in certain circumstances, the prof-
its and losses of the acquired company may be recognized 
retroactively.
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      Balance Sheets Intershop Communications AG

As of December 31, (in €) 2001 2002
ASSETS   
Fixed Assets   
Intangible assets   

Software licenses 1,933,555 644,518
Property and equipment   

Other facilities, furniture, and equipment 69,237 39,869
Financial assets   

Investments in affiliated companies 29,128,642 21,619,288
Loans to affiliated companies 30,000,000 7,000,000

 59,128,642 28,619,288
 61,131,434 29,303,675

Current Assets   
Receivables and other assets   

Receivables due to affiliated companies - 2,140,538
Other assets 2,500,024 1,672,090

 2,500,024 3,812,628
Short-term security investments   

Other Securities 19,349,557 4,170,636
Cash and cash equivalents 9,198,411 7,725,805
 31,047,992 15,709,069
Deferred Charges 246,934 106,181
Total Assets 92,426,360 45,118,925
   
 As of December 31, (in €) 2001 2002
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   
Shareholders’ Equity   
Common stock   

conditional capital: €43,949,219 (previous year: €43,955,897) 88,191,322 19,306,400
Capital surplus 23,644,500 3,973,876
Accumulated deficit (38,898,941) -

 72,936,881 23,280,276
Accrued Liabilities   
Other accrued liabilities 17,351,440 18,652,451
Liabilities   
Liabilities due to banks 1,013 -
Accounts payable 293,781 220,184
Liabilities due to affiliated companies 1,712,025 2,866,691
Other liabilities   

thereof from taxes: €61,519 (previous year: €34,384);
thereof from social security benefits: €21,731 (previous year: €11,469) 131,220 99,323

 2,138,039 3,186,198
Total Shareholders’ Equity and Liabilities 92,426,360 45,118,925
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      Statements of Operations Intershop Communications AG

(in €)

For the year ended December 31, 2001 2002
  

Other operating income 96,825 10,822,688
Personnel costs   

Salaries (1,029,648) (1,897,761)
Social security contributions (106,171) (171,063)

Depreciation   
of intangible fixed and current assets and capitalized business
expansion expense (668,274) (1,325,379)
of current assets to the extent it exceeds depreciation which is normal
for the Company (84,137,534) (40,956,339)

Other operating expenses (23,111,229) (6,253,527)
Interest income   

thereof from affiliated companies: €10,182,612 (previous year: €8,228,743) 11,686,082 10,633,258
Depreciation of financial assets and short term security investments (5,699,998) (30,509,353)
Interest expense   

thereof from affiliated companies: €43,485 (previous year: €18,179) (18,179) (51,080)
Loss from ordinary operations (102,988,126) (59,708,556)
Extraordinary income - 46,885
Net Income/Loss (102,988,126) (59,661,671)
Accumulated deficit carried forward (91,406,257) (38,898,941)
Transfer from capital surplus 155,495,442 98,560,612
Accumulated Deficit (38,898,941) -
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     1. Accounting Policies

Tangible assets are stated at cost, less scheduled depreciation.
 
Financial assets are stated at cost, less necessary valuation allowances.
 
Receivables and other assets are stated at face value, less any necessary valuation allowances.
 
Other provisions cover all recognizable risks and are measured in the amount dictated by prudent business practice.
 
Foreign currency receivables and liabilities were measured using the principle of lower of cost or market and the imparity prin-
ciple, respectively. 

     2. Explanations on the Annual Financial Statements

Balance Sheet
Fixed assets changed as follows (in €):

 Jan. 1, 2002 Additions Disposals Dec. 31, 2002
     
Intangible Assets     
Software licenses 2,578,074 - - 2,578,074
Tangible Assets     
Other equipment, operating and office equipment 103,956 7,311 982 110,285
Financial Assets     
Shares in affiliated companies 52,081,761 - - 52,081,761
Loans to affiliated companies 30,000,000 - - 30,000,000
 82,081,761 - - 82,081,761
 84,763,791 7,311 982 84,770,120
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Cumulative 
depreciation 
and amortiza-

tion Jan. 1, 
2002 Additions Disposals

Cumulative 
depreciation 
and amortiza-
tion Dec. 31, 

2002

Net book 
value Dec. 

31, 2002

Net book 
value Dec. 

31, 2001
       
Intangible Assets       
Software licenses 644,518 1,289,038 - 1,933,556 644,518 1,933,555
Tangible Assets       
Other equipment, operat-
ing and office equipment 34,719 36,341 644 70,416 39,869 69,237
Financial Assets       
Shares in affiliated
companies 22,953,120 7,509,353 - 30,462,473 21,619,288 29,128,642 
Loans to affiliated
companies - 23,000,000 - 23,000,000 7,000,000 30,000,000
 22,953,120 30,509,353 -  53,462,473 28,619,288 59,128,642
 23,632,357 31,834,732 644 55,466,445 29,303,675 61,131,434

  
Receivables from affiliated companies and other assets have a maturity of up to one year.
 
The cash and cash equivalents totaling €7,072,858 (previous year: €7,873,000) reported under cash-in-hand, bank balances 
on the balance sheet have been assigned as security (restricted cash).
 
The share capital in the amount of €19,306,400 consists of 19,306,400 no-par value bearer shares.
 
The authorized capital totaling €48,262,500 entitles the Management Board to issue an additional 48,262,500 no-par value 
bearer shares. 
 
The resolution of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting on June 6, 2002 authorized the Management Board, with the approval of 
the Supervisory Board, to increase the Company's share capital by a total of up to €38,610,000 on one or several occasions 
up to November 11, 2007, by issuing a maximum of 38,610,000 new no-par value bearer shares (Authorized Capital I). The 
Management Board is also authorized to exclude the shareholders' subscription rights with the approval of the Supervisory 
Board.
 
Furthermore, the resolution of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting on June 6, 2002 authorized the Management Board, with the 
approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the Company's share capital by a total of up to €9,652,500 for the purposes 
approved by the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting on June 6, 2002. This increase may be carried out by issuing a maximum of 
9,652,500 new no-par value bearer shares on one or several occasions up to November 11, 2007 (Authorized Capital II); 
shareholders' subscription rights have been excluded.
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Conditional capital totaling €43,949,219 is available for issuing 8,789,844 no-par value bearer shares, of which 4,499,903 
are reserved for the granting of conversion rights to the holders of warrants that the Management Board is authorized to issue 
to employees of the Intershop Group. The ratio of conditional capital to shares available for issuance reflects the reverse 
stock split ratio of 5:1. The reverse stock split took legal effect on December 12, 2002.
 
Of the conditional capital created for granting employee stock options, 8,165,000 shares (Conditional Capital I) are reserved 
for options in compliance with section 192 (2) clause 3 of the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz). Conditional Capi-
tal I is reserved for exercising the options based on the 1999 option model. These options must be exercised no earlier than 
two years and no later than five years from the time they were granted. The conversion price for the new shares is based 
upon the average price of the shares during the last ten trading days prior to the day the options were granted plus 20%.
 
Moreover, 690,016 shares from Conditional Capital II created in compliance with section 192 (2) clause 3 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act are reserved to implement the rights granted to known holders of options to exchange shares in Inter-
shop Communications, Inc., which was acquired by the Company in 1998, for shares in the Company at a ratio of 5:15. In the 
fiscal year 2002, a total of 1,336 shares (corresponding to 6,678 shares prior to the reverse stock split) were issued from Con-
ditional Capital II at an average exercise price of €3.19.
 
€13,644,500 from Conditional Capital III was available at the balance sheet date for the exchange of the remaining shares of 
Intershop Communications, Inc. 
 
The resolution of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting on June 13, 2001 authorized the Management Board to grant, on one or 
several occasions up to May 31, 2006, bearer convertible bonds as well as bonds with warrants for a total of up to 4,289,941 
no-par value bearer shares of the Company, in which case shareholders' subscription rights can be excluded. In order to cover 
these convertible bonds, the Company's share capital was conditionally increased by up to €21,449,703 (Conditional Capital 
IV).

Changes in the capital reserves were as follows (in €): 

Capital reserves as of Dec. 31, 2001 23,644,500
Premium from capital increase against cash contributions 1,664,388
Transfer from simplified reduction of capital 77,225,600
Withdrawals from capital reserves (98,560,612)
 3,973,876

 
On October 30, 2002 Intershop’s stockholders approved a reverse stock split in accordance with section 229 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz), resulting in the reduction of the company’s capital by €77,225,600, or a ratio of five to 
one, from €96,532,000 to €19,306,400, in order to compensate value depreciations and to cover further losses for an aggre-
gate amount of €75,294,960 and in order to form a new, previously dissolved capital surplus of €1,930,640. The preparation 
of the final accounts for Intershop Communications AG as of December 31, 2002, has resulted in lower than expected losses 
and, pursuant to section 232 of the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz), an allocation of an additional €2,043,236 
to additional paid in capital (APIC).
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Other provisions consist primarily of pending losses from the utilization of letters of comfort and litigation risks, year-end clos-
ing costs and the costs of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting, as well as other outstanding charges.

Liabilities can be broken down as follows (in thousands €):

 
Due within
1 year

Due in
1 – 5 years

Due after
more than

5 years  Total
Mortgage-

backed
      
Liabilities to banks - - - - -
Trade payables 220 - - 220 -
Liabilities to affiliated companies 2,867   2,867  
Other liabilities 99 - - 99 -
      
 3,186 - - 3,186 -

 
Contingent Liabilities
Intershop Communications AG issued Intershop Software Entwicklungs GmbH with a letter of comfort on October 20, 1999. 
This letter of comfort states that Intershop Communications AG shall be responsible for ensuring that in the event Intershop 
Software Entwicklungs GmbH is unable to pay all or part of its rent and utilities plus value-added tax, Intershop Software 
Entwicklungs GmbH shall meet all its commitments on time, and that the lessor shall retain payments made to the lessor in 
full. The lease agreement based on the letter of comfort was signed and became effective on October 1, 2000, and shall 
remain in effect up to and including November 14, 2013. As of December 31, 2002, the other financial obligations of Inter-
shop Software Entwicklungs GmbH arising from this lease agreement effective through November 14, 2013, amounted to 
approximately €32.5 million.
 
Furthermore, Intershop Communications AG has issued letters of comfort to affiliated companies covering losses from poten-
tial bad debt expenses. These letters of comfort are valid through March 31, 2003, and are limited to a maximum of €30.0 mil-
lion. The financial obligations arising from the letters of comfort as of December 31, 2002, total approximately €16.0 million; 
accruals were set up for these in the annual financial statements in accordance with the principle of prudence.
 
Income Statement
 
Other operating income in the fiscal year 2002 includes prior-period income of €6,998,339.
 
The write-downs charged in accordance with section 253 (2) of the HGB amount to €30,509,353 (previous year: €5,699,998); 
those charged in accordance with section 253 (3) of the HGB amount to €40,956,339 (previous year: €84,137,534). 
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     3. Other Disclosures 

The Company had an average of 13 employees during the fiscal year 2002 (prior year: 14). 
 
The Supervisory Board comprised the following members in 2002:
 
Eckhard Pfeiffer
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Investor
Former President and Chief Executive Officer, Compaq Computer Corporation
Other board memberships:
General Motors Corporation
Hughes Electronics Corporation
L.M. Ericsson AB
Biogen, Inc.
IFCO Systems NV
Synetc Capital AG
 
Theodore J. Smith
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Investor
Founder and former President, FileNET Corporation
Other board memberships:
FileNET Corporation
 
Prof. Hartmut Esslinger
(up to August 30, 2002)
Designer and Entrepreneur
Founder and Chief Executive Officer, Frogdesign, Inc.
Other board memberships:
Frogdesign, Inc. (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
 
Peter Mark Droste
(since November 28, 2002)
Graduate engineer
Manager Central and Northern Europe, Siebel Systems
Former Manager of Compaq Germany
Other board memberships:
NxN Software AG
Infor Business Solution AG
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Hans W. Gutsch
(since August 15, 2001)
Graduate in business administration
Former Senior VP Human Resources and Organization, Compaq Computer Corporation
Other board memberships:
EyeTicket Corporation (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
EI-Nets, Ltd., Singapore
RYNEX Corporation New York, USA
 
Dr. Hagen Hultzsch
(until November 1, 2002)
Graduate physicist
Former Member of the Management Board and former Chief Technical Officer, Deutsche Telekom AG
Other board memberships:
Heraeus Tenevo AG 
T-Venture Holding (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
Universitätsklinikum Bonn GmbH
Leybold Optics GmbH, Alzenau
 
Burgess Jamieson
(since June 6, 2002)
Engineer
Investor and shareholder of Intershop
Project Manager and Technology Manager at aerospace companies
Division Vice President, Electronic Memories, Inc.
Chief Operating Officer, Sycor, Inc.
Co-founder, Institutional Venture Associates
 
The Management Board included the following persons in 2002:
 
Stephan Schambach  
Chairman of the Management Board and Chief Executive Officer
 
Wilfried Beeck            
Management Board member and Chief Operating Officer (until February 8, 2002)
 
Dr. Jürgen Schöttler
Management Board member and Chief Financial Officer (since April 15, 2002)
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Werner Fuhrmann
Management Board member and President EMEA (since July 25, 2002)
 
The Management Board received remuneration from the Company totaling €691,841. The members of the Management 
Board were granted a total of 120,000 stock options from the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan. The remuneration for the members 
of the Supervisory Board for the fiscal year amounted to €100,000. 
 
Information on the shareholdings of the members of the executive bodies (Supervisory and Management Boards) as of Decem-
ber 31, 2002, can be found in Note 16 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements, “Local Disclosure Requirements.”
 
As a listed company, Intershop Communications AG prepares consolidated financial statements in accordance with US GAAP 
which, according to the provisions of section 292a of the German Commercial Code (HGB), exempt it from the need to file 
HGB consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements are filed with the commercial register of the 
Local Court in Gera, Germany. These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the parent com-
pany and the following companies:
 
Intershop Communications GmbH, Jena, Germany
Intershop Communications, Inc., San Francisco, USA
Intershop Communications S.a.r.l., Paris, France
Intershop Software Entwicklungs GmbH, Jena, Germany
Intershop (UK) Ltd., London, United Kingdom
Intershop Communications Ventures GmbH, Hamburg, Germany
IS Nordic AB, Stockholm, Sweden
Intershop Communications Hong Kong Co. Ltd., Hong Kong, China
Intershop Communications Korea Co. Ltd., Seoul, Korea
Intershop Communications Taiwan, Taipei, Taiwan
Intershop Communications Dubai LLC, Dubai, United Arab Emirates
Intershop Communications Singapore Pte Ltd., Singapore
Intershop Communications K.K, Tokyo, Japan
Intershop Communications Australia Pty Ltd., North Sydney, Australia
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The following list shows the subsidiaries of Intershop Communications AG and the Company's respective interest as of 
December 31, 2002:

 Interest in % Currency Nominal capital Equity* Net loss*
      
Intershop Communications, Inc., 
San Francisco, USA 82.5 € 7,332,682 (97,708,913) (5,373,011)
Intershop Communications
Ventures GmbH, Hamburg, Germany 100 € 1,000,000 (1,783,324) (86,296)
Intershop Software Entwicklungs 
GmbH, Jena, Germany 100 € 26,000 (59,275,675) (55,331,725)
Intershop (UK) Ltd., London, 
United Kingdom 100 € 1,586 (19,409,780) (5,743,346)
Intershop Communications 
S.a.r.l., Paris, France 100 € 300,000 (2,299,105) (1,947,179)
Intershop Nordic AB, Stockholm, 
Sweden 100 € 11,437 82,339 (934,969)
Intershop Communications Hong 
Kong Co. Ltd., Hong Kong, China 99.99 € 1,378 (10,851,807) (1,475,522)
Intershop Communications 
Korea Co. Ltd., Seoul, Korea 99.98 € 50,940 (2,738,712) 57,553
Intershop Communications
Taiwan, Taipei, Taiwan 100 € 32,393 (678,905) (142,577)
Intershop Communications
Singapore Pte Ltd., Singapore 100 € 65,168 (940,249) (64,116)
Intershop Communications K.K., 
Tokyo, Japan 100 € 109,064 (4,244,517) (943,294)
Intershop Communications
Australia Pty Ltd., North Sydney, 
Australia 100 € 238,278 (2,001,418) (98,202)

* The above figures for equity and the net loss for the year are provisional. The above figures for Intershop Software Entwick-
lungs GmbH, Jena, Germany, are as of December 31, 2001.

     4. Declaration of Conformity in Accordance with Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act 

The corporate governance declaration of conformity required under section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act 
(Aktiengesetz) was submitted and has been permanently available to shareholders on the Company’s Web site at 
http://www.intershop.com/investor since December 31, 2002.
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     5. Appropriation of Net Income/Loss 

The annual financial statements have been prepared to reflect the appropriation of the capital reserves totaling €98,560,612 
to offset the year's net loss of €59,661,671 and to offset the loss carryforward of €38,898,941. The Management Board of 
Intershop Communications AG proposes to carry forward the remaining net accumulated losses of €0 to new account.
 
Jena, Germany, February 2003
 
The Management Board

Stephan Schambach Dr. Jürgen Schöttler Werner Fuhrmann
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We have audited the financial statements, including the accounting system, and the combined management and group man-
agement report of INTERSHOP Communications AG for the fiscal year from January 1 to December 31, 2002. The legal repre-
sentatives of the Company are responsible for the accounting system and preparation of the financial statements and com-
bined management and group management report in compliance with the German Commercial Code (HGB). Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion, based on our audit, on the financial statements, including the accounting system, and on the com-
bined management and group management report.
 
We conducted our audit of the financial statements pursuant to Sec. 317 of the HGB and in compliance with the generally 
accepted standards of auditing prescribed by the German Institute of Certified Public Accountants (Institut der Wirtschaft-
sprüfer). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that inaccuracies and 
violations are recognized which significantly affect the presentation of the net worth, financial position and results of opera-
tions as conveyed by the financial statements, in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles, and by the com-
bined management and group management report. The scope of the audit was planned taking into account our understanding 
of business operations, the Company’s economic and legal environment, and any potential errors anticipated. In the course of 
the audit, the effectiveness of the system of internal accounting controls was assessed, and the disclosures made in the 
books and records, financial statements and combined management and group management report were verified, mainly on a 
test basis. The audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the legal repre-
sentatives, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements and the combined management and 
group management report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
Our audit did not give any rise for qualification.
 
In our opinion, the financial statements present a true and fair view of the Company’s net worth, financial position and results 
of operations in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. In all material respects, the combined manage-
ment and group management report accurately presents the situation of the Company and the risks to its future development.
 
Without qualifying this opinion, we refer to the Company's discussion in the combined management and group management 
report in the sections "Intershop Communications AG Highlights and Risks” and “Group Risks."  In these sections, the Com-
pany discusses the planned measures to improve its results of operations and cash flows.  If Intershop Communications AG 
fails to implement its 2003 business plan, additional financing resources might be required to support the Group’s operations. 
If, in this case, no such financing is available on a timely basis, the ability of Intershop Communications AG and the Group to 
continue operations might be endangered. The Company further discusses that unplanned write-downs on the carrying 
amounts of subsidiaries and long-term loans to subsidiaries cannot be excluded, if the future economic development of the 
respective subsidiaries deviates significantly from their expected development. 

Ernst & Young
Revisions- und Treuhandgesellschaft mbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft 

Schneider (Wirtschaftsprüfer)
 
Hamburg, Germany, March 27, 2003

Nendza (Wirtschaftsprüfer)
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Corporate Governance Report in Accordance with Section 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance Code
 
The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board decided in their meetings on December 18, 2002, and December 20, 2002, 
respectively, to fully implement the recommendations of the Government Commission on the German Corporate Governance 
Code in the fiscal year 2003. The Supervisory Board and Executive Board made the following joint declaration of conformity in 
accordance with section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz) in conjunction with article 15 sentence 2 of 
the Introductory Law to the German Stock Corporation Act (Einführungsgesetz zum Aktiengesetz) on December 31, 2002:
 
“The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of Intershop Communications AG, Jena, declare, in accordance with section 
161 sentence 1 of the AktG, that they comply with the recommendations of the Government Commission on the German Cor-
porate Governance Code as published by the Federal Ministry of Justice in the official section of the Federal Gazette on 
August 20, 2002.”
 
This declaration has been available for stockholders to view on the company’s Web site at 
http://www.intershop.com/investor since December 31, 2002. 
 
The recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code were largely complied with in the fiscal year 2002. Where 
deviations remained, the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board will work toward ensuring compliance with the corre-
sponding recommendations in the fiscal year 2003, in accordance with their declaration of conformity.
 
Jena, Germany, March 14, 2003
 
Intershop Communications AG

Eckhard Pfeiffer
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Stephan Schambach
Chief Executive Officer
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The Supervisory Board oversaw and monitored the activities of the Management Board in accordance with the tasks imposed 
upon it by law and the Articles of Association. The Supervisory Board assured that good business practices were implemented 
and observed throughout the Company. The Supervisory Board convened for meetings on February 3, 2002, April 19, 2002, 
June 5, 2002, July 25, 2002, October 29, 2002, and December 20, 2002. 
 
During 2002, the Supervisory Board continued to support the activities of the Management Board. The Supervisory Board was 
consulted by the Management Board on a multitude of strategic decisions in numerous telephone and video conferences. The 
Management Board regularly reported to the Supervisory Board both on the Company’s progress towards achieving annual tar-
gets and on the prospects for future periods. The Supervisory Board’s audit committee held meetings with the CFO and the 
head of accounting on a monthly basis to discuss, analyze, and monitor corporate financial issues of day-to-day business oper-
ations. 
 
In 2002, no member of the Supervisory Board attended less than half of the Supervisory Board’s meetings. For none of the 
Supervisory Board members, there appeared to be conflicts of interest in 2002.
 
In 2002, we had several changes in the composition of the Supervisory Board. At the Company’s stockholders’ meeting on 
June 6, 2002, all existing members of the Supervisory Board at that time as well as Mr. Burgess Jamieson were approved as 
new members of the Supervisory Board until the Company’s stockholders’ meeting in 2007. Messrs. Prof. Hartmut Esslinger 
and Dr. Hagen Hultzsch resigned from the Supervisory Board effective August 30, 2002, and November 1, 2002, respectively, 
for personal reasons. With his resignation, Dr. Hagen Hultzsch also resigned from the Corporate Audit Committee. The Super-
visory Board would like to thank Messrs. Esslinger and Hultzsch for their contributions to the success of Intershop Communi-
cations AG. The Local Court in Gera, Germany, appointed Mr. Peter Mark Droste to the role of member of the Supervisory 
Board effective November 28, 2002. We would like to welcome Messrs. Jamieson and Droste as new Supervisory Board mem-
bers.
 
There were several changes to the Management Board in the fiscal year 2002. Effective February 8, 2002, Mr. Wilfried Beeck 
resigned as Chief Operating Officer (COO) and Finanzvorstand. The Supervisory Board would like to thank Mr. Beeck for his 
contributions to the success of Intershop Communications AG. Effective April 15, 2002, Dr. Juergen Schoettler was appointed 
by the Supervisory Board to the role of Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and Finanzvorstand. Effective July 25, 2002, Mr. Werner 
Fuhrmann was appointed by the Supervisory Board to the role of President Europe, Middle East, and Africa and Vorstand. 
 
Ernst & Young Revisions- und Treuhandgesellschaft mbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft Steuerberatungsgesellschaft (audi-
tors and tax consultants; formerly Arthur Andersen Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft Steuerberatungsgesellschaft mbH) 
audited both the individual and consolidated accounts of Intershop Communications AG and the Company, its annual financial 
statements, and the management report, and gave an unqualified auditor's opinion. Arthur Andersen was appointed Inter-
shop’s auditor for the fiscal year 2002 at Intershop’s Annual Stockholders' Meeting on June 6, 2002. After detailed reviews by 
the Corporate Audit Committee, the Supervisory Board also reviewed the financial statements and the consolidated financial 
statements, covering the year up to December 31, 2002, and the related management reports. On April 11, 2003, the Supervi-
sory Board agreed with the audit results and approved the annual financial statements prepared by the Management Board. 
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On behalf of the Supervisory Board, I would like to thank management and all employees for their commitment in the past 
year.
 
Jena, Germany, April 11, 2003
 

 
Eckhard Pfeiffer
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Intershop Communications AG
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      Corporate Structure

Intershop Communications AG:

  Ownership %
   
Intershop Communications, Inc., San Francisco, USA 82.5
Intershop Communications GmbH, Jena, Germany 100
Intershop Software Entwicklungs GmbH, Jena, Germany 100
Intershop Communications Ventures GmbH, Hamburg, Germany 100
Intershop (U.K.) Ltd., London, United Kingdom 100
Intershop Communications S.a.r.l., Paris, France 100
IS Nordic, AB, Stockholm, Sweden 100
Intershop Communications Hong Kong Co. Ltd., Hong Kong, China 99.99
Intershop Communications Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore 100
Intershop Communications Australia Pty Ltd., Sydney, Australia 100
Intershop Communications Taiwan Co. Ltd., Taipei, Taiwan 100
Intershop Communications Korea Co. Ltd., Seoul, Korea 99.98
Intershop Communications K.K., Tokyo, Japan 100
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      Directors’ Holdings

As of December 31, 2002, post one-for-five reverse stock split

Name Title, Function Shares held* 
Stock options 

held*, **
   

Eckhard Pfeiffer Chairman of the Supervisory Board 80,000 0
Theodore J. Smith Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board 21,458 0
Peter Mark Droste
(since November 28, 2002)

Member of the Supervisory Board 0 0

Hans W. Gutsch Member of the Supervisory Board 70,000 0
Burgess Jamieson (since June 6, 2002) Member of the Supervisory Board 0 0

Stephan Schambach

Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the 
Management Board
(Vorstandsvorsitzender) 1,667,300*** 0

Dr. Jürgen Schöttler (since April 15, 2002)
Chief Financial Officer, Member of the 
Management Board (Finanzvorstand) 6,000 60,000

Werner Fuhrmann (since July 25, 2002)

President Europe, Middle East and Africa 
(EMEA), Member of the Management 
Board (Vorstand) 66 60,000

* All information post one-for-five reverse stock split. As part of the Company’s initiative to strengthen its balance sheet and 
increase its financial flexibility, on October 30, 2002 Intershop’s stockholders approved the reduction of the company’s capi-
tal by €77,225,600, or a ratio of five to one, from €96,532,000 to €19,306,400.  This reduction in share capital took legal 
effect on December 12, 2002, when a resolution on a simplified reduction of capital was entered in the commercial register of 
Gera, Germany, local court, in accordance with sections 229 ff. of the Aktiengesetz (German Stock Corporation Act).  The new 
shares began trading on a consolidated basis on January 20, 2003.  Following the stock split, the International Securities Iden-
tification Number (ISIN) of Intershop Communications AG’s common bearer shares changed from ISIN DE 000 622 700 2 to 
ISIN DE 000 747 292 0.  
 
** The stock options were granted under the conditions of the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan.  Details on the 1999 Equity Incen-
tive Plan can be found in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company’s 2002 annual report (section 
12.).  Dr. Schoettler’s stock options have a reverse stock split adjusted exercise price of €7.90 per share; Mr. Fuhrmann’s 
stock options have a reverse stock split adjusted exercise price of €5.20 per share.
 
*** As of December 31, 2002, Stephan Schambach held 4,166,667 shares in Intershop Communications, Inc.  These shares 
can be converted into 2,500,000 Intershop Communications AG common bearer shares at any time prior to 2004.  On Jan-
uary 23, 2002, Mr. Schambach announced his intention to exchange his 4,166,667 shares in Intershop Communications, Inc. 
into 2,500,000 Intershop Communications AG common bearer shares. As of December 31, 2002 this share conversion was 
not completed.
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      Securities Transactions subject to Reporting Requirements

The members of the Company’s executive bodies made the following purchases of Intershop common bearer shares during 
the fiscal year 2002 (expressed in line with the 5:1 reverse stock split):

Name Date Type of transaction Amount
Total

value (€)
Supervisory Board:     
Hans W. Gutsch February 19, 2002 Purchase 15,502.6 84,839.80
Hans W. Gutsch February 20, 2002 Purchase 13,946.6 78,945.94
Hans W. Gutsch February 21, 2002 Purchase 5,059 29,149.22
Hans W. Gutsch February 22, 2002 Purchase 10,491.8 60,980.88
Hans W. Gutsch March 1, 2002 Purchase 6,000 35,520.67
Hans W. Gutsch  March 4, 2002 Purchase 2,000 15,875.87
Hans W. Gutsch  March 5, 2002 Purchase 752 5,442.97
Hans W. Gutsch  March 6, 2002 Purchase 248 1,812.66
Hans W. Gutsch  March 8, 2002 Purchase 2,000 14,574.00
Hagen Hultzsch  April 2, 2002 Purchase 1,000 7,250.00
Hans W. Gutsch June 3, 2002 Purchase 8,000 41,809.50
     
Management Board:     
Stephan Schambach  May 2, 2002 Purchase 1,666,800 10,000,800.00
Dr. Jürgen Schöttler  September 12, 2002 Purchase 2,000 4,500.00
Dr. Jürgen Schöttler  November 6, 2002 Purchase 4,000 18,973.00

      Offices

Copenhagen / Hamburg / Helsinki / Hong Kong / Ilmenau / Jena / London / Oslo / Paris / San Francisco / Stockholm / 
Stuttgart / Tokyo.
 

      Financial Calendar 2003

Date Event
  
February 14, 2003 Release of Q4 and FY 2002 financials
April 30, 2003 Release of Q1 financials
May 28, 2003 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting (Weimar, Germany)
July 31, 2003 Release of Q2 and 6-month financials
October 30, 2003 Release of Q3 and 9-month financials
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